UDR, Inc. Form 10-Q April 29, 2014 Table of Contents

**UNITED STATES** 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES

**EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934** 

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2014

OR

Х

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission file number

1-10524 (UDR, Inc.)

333-156002-01 (United Dominion Realty, L.P.)

UDR, Inc.

United Dominion Realty, L.P.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland (UDR, Inc.) 54-0857512

Delaware (United Dominion Realty, L.P.) 54-1776887

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation of organization) Identification No.)

1745 Shea Center Drive, Suite 200, Highlands Ranch, Colorado 80129

(Address of principal executive offices) (zip code)

(720) 283-6120

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

UDR, Inc. Yes x No o

United Dominion Realty, L.P.

Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

UDR, Inc.

Ves x No o
United Dominion Realty, L.P.

Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

UDR, Inc.:

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o

(Do not check if a smaller

reporting company)

United Dominion Realty, L.P.:

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer x Smaller reporting company o

(Do not check if a smaller

reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). UDR, Inc.

Yes o No x

United Dominion Realty, L.P.

Yes o No x

The number of shares of UDR, Inc.'s common stock, \$0.01 par value, outstanding as of April 25, 2014 was 251,430,708.

## Table of Contents

UDR, INC. UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P. INDEX	DACE
PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION	PAGE
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements	
UDR, INC.:	
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 (unaudited) and December 31, 2013 (audited)	<u>4</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>5</u>
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>6</u>
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2014 (unaudited	1) 7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>8</u>
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	9
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.:	
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 (unaudited) and December 31, 2013 (audited)	<u>35</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>36</u>
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>37</u>
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Capital for the three months ended March 31, 2014 (unaudited)	<u>38</u>
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited)	<u>39</u>
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	<u>40</u>
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>58</u>
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>80</u>
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	<u>80</u>

# PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings	<u>81</u>
Item 1A. Risk Factors	<u>81</u>
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>94</u>
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	<u>95</u>
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	<u>95</u>
Item 5. Other Information	<u>96</u>
Item 6. Exhibits	<u>96</u>
Signatures	<u>97</u>
Exhibit 12.1 Exhibit 31.1 Exhibit 31.2 Exhibit 31.3 Exhibit 31.4 Exhibit 32.1 Exhibit 32.2 Exhibit 32.3 Exhibit 32.4	

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

This report combines the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 of UDR, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and United Dominion Realty, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, of which UDR, Inc. is the parent company and sole general partner. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Report to "we," "us," "our," the "Company", "UDR" or "UDR, Inc." refer collectively to UDR, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures, including the Operating Partnership. Unless the context otherwise requires, the references in this Report to the "Operating Partnership" or the "OP" refer to United Dominion Realty, L.P. together with its consolidated subsidiaries. "Common stock" refers to the common stock of UDR and "stockholders" means the holders of shares of UDR's common stock and preferred stock. The limited partnership interests of the Operating Partnership are referred to as the "OP Units" and the holders of the OP Units are referred to as "unitholders". This combined Form 10-Q is being filed separately by UDR and the Operating Partnership.

There are a number of differences between our Company and our Operating Partnership, which are reflected in our disclosure in this report. UDR is a real estate investment trust (a "REIT"), whose most significant asset is its ownership interest in the Operating Partnership. UDR also conducts business through other subsidiaries, including its taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS"), REwhose activities include development of land and land entitlement. UDR acts as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, holds interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures, owns and operates properties, issues securities from time to time and guarantees debt of certain of our subsidiaries. The Operating Partnership conducts the operations of a substantial portion of the business and is structured as a partnership with no publicly traded equity securities. The Operating Partnership has guaranteed certain outstanding debt of UDR. As of March 31, 2014, UDR owned 110,883 units (100%) of the general partnership interests of the Operating Partnership and 173,848,891 units (or approximately 94.9%) of the limited partnership interests of the Operating Partnership. UDR conducts a substantial amount of its business and holds a substantial amount of its assets through the Operating Partnership, and, by virtue of its ownership of the OP Units and being the Operating Partnership's sole general partner, UDR has the ability to control all of the day-to-day operations of the Operating Partnership. Separate financial statements and accompanying notes, as well as separate discussions under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," are provided for each of UDR and the Operating Partnership.

## UDR, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS	March 31, 2014 (unaudited)		December 31, 2013 (audited)	
Real estate owned: Real estate held for investment Less: accumulated depreciation Real estate held for investment, net	\$8,075,799 (2,273,360 5,802,439	)	\$7,723,844 (2,200,815 5,523,029	)
Real estate under development (net of accumulated depreciation of \$0 and \$1,411, respectively)	222,601		466,002	
Real estate sold or held for disposition (net of accumulated depreciation of \$6,568 and \$6,568, respectively)	10,152		10,152	
Total real estate owned, net of accumulated depreciation Cash and cash equivalents Restricted cash Deferred financing costs, net Notes receivable, net Investment in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures, net Other assets Total assets	6,035,192 15,891 23,131 25,516 84,568 517,927 131,798 \$6,834,023		5,999,183 30,249 22,796 26,924 83,033 507,655 137,882 \$6,807,722	
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY				
Liabilities: Secured debt Unsecured debt Real estate taxes payable Accrued interest payable Security deposits and prepaid rent Distributions payable Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities Total liabilities	\$1,442,873 2,185,373 20,173 27,747 30,731 68,542 76,007 3,851,446		\$1,442,077 2,081,626 13,847 32,279 27,203 61,907 118,682 3,777,621	
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)				
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership	240,708		217,597	
Equity: Preferred stock, no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized 2,803,812 shares of 8.00% Series E Cumulative Convertible issued and outstanding (2,803,812 shares at December 31, 2013)	46,571		46,571	
Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 350,000,000 shares authorized 251,430,708 shares	2,514		2,507	
issued and outstanding (250,749,665 shares at December 31, 2013) Additional paid-in capital Distributions in excess of net income Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net Total stockholders' equity	4,110,625 (1,414,997 (3,704 2,741,009	-	4,109,765 (1,342,070 (5,125 2,811,648	)

 Noncontrolling interests
 860
 856

 Total equity
 2,741,869
 2,812,504

 Total liabilities and equity
 \$6,834,023
 \$6,807,722

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# UDR, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (In thousands, except per share data) (Unaudited)

	Three Month	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2014	2013		
REVENUES:				
Rental income	\$194,352	\$181,961		
Joint venture management and other fees	3,687	2,923		
Total revenues	198,039	184,884		
1 Star Te venues	170,027	101,001		
OPERATING EXPENSES:				
Property operating and maintenance	36,720	34,821		
Real estate taxes and insurance	25,431	23,292		
Property management	5,345	5,004		
Other operating expenses	1,926	1,636		
Real estate depreciation and amortization	88,533	82,898		
General and administrative	11,994	9,476		
Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net	500	(3,021	)	
Other depreciation and amortization	1,080	1,146		
Total operating expenses	171,529	155,252		
Operating income	26,510	29,632		
-1		_,,,,,		
Income/(loss) from unconsolidated entities	(3,565	) (2,802	)	
Interest expense	(32,884	) (30,981	)	
Interest and other income/(expense), net	1,415	1,016		
Income/(loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations	(8,524	) (3,135	)	
Tax benefit, net	3,329	1,973		
Income/(loss) from continuing operations	(5,195	) (1,162	)	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax	(87	) 853		
Income/(loss) before gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned	(5,282	) (309	)	
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax	24,294			
Net income/(loss)	19,012	(309	)	
Net (income)/loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the	(647	) 45		
Operating Partnership	(047	) 43		
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(4	) (4	)	
Net income/(loss) attributable to UDR, Inc.	18,361	(268	)	
Distributions to preferred stockholders — Series E (Convertible)	(931	) (931	)	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$17,430	\$(1,199	)	
Income/(loss) per weighted average common share — basic:				
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07	\$(0.01	)	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.00	\$0.00	,	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07	\$0.00		
Income/(loss) per weighted average common share — diluted:	¥ 0.07	ų <b>0.</b> 00		
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07	\$(0.01	)	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.00	\$0.00	,	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07	\$0.00		
(1000)	40.01	Ψ 0.00		

Common distributions declared per share	\$0.260	\$0.235
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.	250,177 251,822	249,917 249,917
5		

## UDR, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31.		
	2014	2013	
Net income/(loss)	\$19,012	\$(309	)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), including portion attributable to noncontrolling			
interests:			
Other comprehensive income/(loss) - derivative instruments:			
Unrealized holding gain/(loss)	(55	) (92	)
(Gain)/loss reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income/(loss)	1,532	1,937	
Other comprehensive income/(loss), including portion attributable to noncontrolling	1,477	1,845	
interests	•	,	
Comprehensive income/(loss)	20,489	1,536	
Comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(707	) (46	)
Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to UDR, Inc.	\$19,782	\$1,490	

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

# UDR, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (In thousands, except share and per share data) (Unaudited)

	Preferred Shares	Stock Amount	Common Sto	ock Amoun	Paid-in Capital	Distributions in Excess of Net Income	Accumul Other Compreh Income/(		ontrolling Total sts	
Balance at December 31, 2013	2,803,812	\$46,571	250,749,665	\$2,507	\$4,109,765	\$(1,342,070)	net			
Net income/(loss) attributable to UDR, Inc.	_	_	_	_	_	18,361	_		18,361	
Net income/(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	4	4	
Other comprehensive income/(loss)	_	_	_	_	_	_	1,421	_	1,421	
Issuance/(forfeiture of common and restricted shares, net	) —	_	681,043	7	860	_	_	_	867	
Common stock distributions declared (\$0.26 per share)	_	_	_	_	_	(65,400 )	_	_	(65,400	)
Preferred stock distributions declared-Series E (\$0.3322 per share)	_	_	_	_	_	(931 )	_	_	(931	)
Adjustment to reflect redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling	e—	_	_	_	_	(24,957 )	_	_	(24,957	)
interests Balance at March 31, 2014 See accompanying					\$4,110,625	\$(1,414,997)	\$(3,704)	\$860	\$2,741,869	
7										

# UDR, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands, except for share data) (Unaudited)

	Three Months 2014	Ended March 3 2013	•		
Operating Activities Net income/(loss) Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:	\$19,012	\$(309	)		
Depreciation and amortization Gain on sale of real estate owned, net of tax Tan han effect mate	89,613 (24,294	84,588	\		
Tax benefit, net Loss from unconsolidated entities	3,565	) (1,973 2,802	)		
Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net Other Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	500 6,697	(548 4,775	)		
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets	8,422	(3,269	)		
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities Net cash provided by operating activities	(17,665 82,521	) (19,406 66,660	)		
Investing Activities Acquisition of real estate assets	(77,793	) —			
Proceeds from sale of real estate investments, net Development of real estate assets	47,922 (56,147	— ) (85,181	)		
Capital expenditures and other major improvements — real estate assets, net of escroreimbursement	(30,226	(24,800	)		
Capital expenditures — non-real estate assets Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures Distributions received from unconsolidated joint ventures Purchase deposits on pending acquisitions Issuance of notes receivable	(21,476 7,661 (4,000 (1,535	) (2,313 ) (936 14,393 ) — ) (2,180	)		
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  Financing Activities	(136,709	(101,017	)		
Payments on secured debt Proceeds from the issuance of secured debt Payments on unsecured debt	4,553	) (3,199 — ) —	)		
Net proceeds/(repayment) of revolving bank debt Distributions paid to redeemable noncontrolling interests	287,500	94,000 ) (2,263	)		
Distributions paid to preferred stockholders	(931	) (931	)		
Other Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities	(58,952 (3,494 39,830	) (55,035 ) (3,209 29,363	)		
			`		
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	(14,358 30,249 \$15,891	(4,994 12,115 \$7,121	)		

## Supplemental Information:

Interest paid during the period, net of amounts capitalized \$38,180 \$41,573

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 2013

Non-cash transactions:

8

Conversion of OP Units into common shares (69,237 shares in 2013)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 1,649

UDR, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MARCH 31, 2014

#### 1. CONSOLIDATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

UDR, Inc., collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries ("UDR," the "Company," "we," "our," or "us") is a self-administere real estate investment trust, or REIT, that owns, operates, acquires, renovates, develops, redevelops, and manages apartment communities. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of UDR and its subsidiaries, including United Dominion Realty, L.P. (the "Operating Partnership" or the "OP"). As of March 31, 2014, there were 183,278,698 units in the Operating Partnership outstanding, of which 173,959,774 units or 94.9% were owned by UDR and 9,318,924 units or 5.1% were owned by limited partners. The consolidated financial statements of UDR include the noncontrolling interests of the unitholders in the Operating Partnership.

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been condensed or omitted according to such rules and regulations, although management believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. In the opinion of management, all adjustments and eliminations necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position as of March 31, 2014, and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 have been included. Such adjustments are normal and recurring in nature. The interim results presented are not necessarily indicative of results that can be expected for a full year. The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2013 appearing in UDR's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 25, 2014.

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the dates of the

generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the dates of the interim unaudited consolidated financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual amounts realized or paid could differ from those estimates. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company evaluated subsequent events through the date its financial statements were issued. No significant recognized or non-recognized subsequent events were noted other than those mentioned in Note 5, Joint Ventures and Partnerships, and Note 6, Secured and Unsecured Debt.

#### 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

**Recent Accounting Pronouncements** 

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity, which incorporates a requirement that a disposition represent a strategic shift in an entity's operations into the definition of a discontinued operation. In accordance with the ASU, a discontinued operation represents (1) a component of an entity or group of components that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale in a single transaction and represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on an entity's financial results, or (2) an acquired business that is classified as held for sale on the date of acquisition. A strategic shift could include a disposal of (1) a separate major line of business, (2) a separate major geographic area of operations, (3) a major equity method investment, or (4) other major parts of an entity. The standard requires prospective application and will be effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014 with early adoption permitted. The early adoption provision excludes components of an entity that were sold or classified as held for sale prior to the adoption of the standard.

The Company elected to early adopt this standard effective January 1, 2014, which had a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements as further discussed in Note 4, Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale. Subsequent to the Company's adoption of ASU 2014-08, the sale of real estate that does not meet the definition of a

Table of Contents
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

discontinued operation under the standard is included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had one operating property that was classified as held for sale and was not subject to early adoption of the ASU. Therefore, as of March 31, 2014, this property was included in Real estate sold or held for disposition on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Upon the sale of this property, a gain/(loss) will be reported as discontinued operations.

Revenue and Real Estate Sales Gain Recognition

Rental income related to leases is recognized on an accrual basis when due from residents and tenants in accordance with GAAP. Rental payments are generally due on a monthly basis and recognized when earned. The Company recognizes interest income, management and other fees and incentives when earned, and the amounts are fixed and determinable.

For sale transactions meeting the requirements for full accrual profit recognition, we remove the related assets and liabilities from our Consolidated Balance Sheets and record the gain or loss in the period the transaction closes. For sale transactions that do not meet the full accrual sale criteria due to our continuing involvement, we evaluate the nature of the continuing involvement and account for the transaction under an alternate method of accounting. Unless certain limited criteria are met, non-monetary transactions, including property exchanges, are accounted for at fair value.

Sales to entities in which we retain or otherwise own an interest are accounted for as partial sales. If all other requirements for recognizing profit under the full accrual method have been satisfied and no other forms of continuing involvement are present, we recognize profit proportionate to the outside interest in the buyer and defer the gain on the interest we retain. The Company recognizes any deferred gain when the property is sold to a third party. In transactions accounted for by us as partial sales, we determine if the buyer of the majority equity interest in the venture was provided a preference as to cash flows in either an operating or a capital waterfall. If a cash flow preference has been provided, we recognize profit only to the extent that proceeds from the sale of the majority equity interest exceed costs related to the entire property.

#### Notes Receivable

The following table summarizes our notes receivable, net as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Balance outstanding				
	March 31, 2014	December 31,	Interest		
	Watch 31, 2014	2013	rate		
Note due June 2014 (a)	\$40,800	\$40,800	3.91	%	
Note due February 2017 (b)	15,008	14,580	10.00	%	
Note due July 2017 (c)	2,500	1,400	8.00	%	
Note due June 2022 (net of discount of \$240 and \$247, respectively) (d)	26,260	26,253	7.00	%	
Total notes receivable, net	\$84,568	\$83,033			

(a) In the fourth quarter of 2013, in conjunction with the sale of its 95% interest in the Lodge at Stoughton, one of its unconsolidated joint ventures, the Company provided the buyer with a \$40.8 million loan secured by the property at LIBOR plus a spread of 350 basis points with two three-month extension options at increased rates and a financing fee. In the first quarter of 2014, the buyer exercised its first option to extend the maturity date to June 15, 2014.

(b) The Company has a secured note receivable with an unaffiliated third party with an aggregate commitment of \$15.0 million, which bears an interest rate of 10.00% per annum. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the

Company loaned an additional \$428,000 under the note. Interest payments are due monthly. The note matures at the earliest of the following: (a) the closing of any private or public capital raising in the amount of \$5.0 million or greater; (b) an acquisition; (c) acceleration in the event of default; or (d) the fifth anniversary of the date of the note (February 2017).

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

(c) The Company has a secured note receivable with an unaffiliated third party with an aggregate commitment of \$2.5 million, which bears an interest rate of 8.00% per annum. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company loaned an additional \$1.1 million. Interest payments are due monthly. The note matures at the earliest of the following: (a) the closing of any private or public capital raising in the amount of \$5.0 million or greater; (b) an acquisition; (c) acceleration in the event of default; or (d) the fifth anniversary of the date of the note (July 2017). (d) In 2012, the Company purchased a "B" Note secured by a first mortgage on a class A community in West Los Angeles. The \$26.5 million loan was purchased at a yield of 7.25% and bears a coupon rate of 7.00%. Interest payments are due monthly and the note is due June 2022. The discount is amortized using the effective interest method.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized \$1.2 million and \$1.0 million of interest income, net of accretion, from these notes receivable, of which \$0 and \$181,000 was related party interest income, respectively. Interest income is included in Interest and other income/(expense), net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

Comprehensive income/(loss), which is defined as the change in equity during each period from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources, including all changes in equity during a period except for those resulting from investments by or distributions to stockholders, is displayed in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss). For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company's other comprehensive income/(loss) consisted of the gain/(loss) (effective portion) on derivative instruments that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges, (gain)/loss on derivative instruments reclassified from other comprehensive income/(loss) into earnings, and the allocation of other comprehensive income/(loss) to redeemable noncontrolling interests. The (gain)/loss on derivative instruments reclassified from other comprehensive income/(loss) is included in Interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 10, Derivatives and Hedging Activity, for further discussion. The allocation of other comprehensive income/(loss) to redeemable noncontrolling interests during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was \$56,000 and \$87,000, respectively.

**Income Taxes** 

Due to the structure of the Company as a REIT and the nature of the operations for the operating properties, no provision for federal income taxes has been provided for at UDR. Historically, the Company has generally incurred only state and local excise and franchise taxes. UDR has elected for certain consolidated subsidiaries to be treated as taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRS"), primarily those engaged in development activities.

Income taxes for our TRS, RE³, are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities from a change in tax rate is recognized in earnings in the period of the enactment date. The Company's deferred tax assets are generally the result of differing depreciable lives on capitalized assets and timing of expense recognition for certain accrued liabilities. As of March 31, 2014, UDR recorded a net income tax receivable of \$991,000 and a net deferred tax asset of \$35.9 million (net of a valuation allowance of \$1.3 million), which are included in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

GAAP defines a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. GAAP also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting for interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The Company recognizes its tax positions and evaluates them using a two-step process. First, UDR determines whether a tax position is more likely than not (greater than 50 percent probability) to be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. Second, the Company will determine the amount of benefit to recognize and record the amount that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement.

Table of Contents
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

UDR had no material unrecognized tax benefit, accrued interest or penalties at March 31, 2014. UDR and its subsidiaries are subject to federal income tax as well as income tax of various state and local jurisdictions. The tax years 2010 through 2013 remain open to examination by tax jurisdictions to which we are subject. When applicable, UDR recognizes interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in Tax benefit, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

#### 3. REAL ESTATE OWNED

Real estate assets owned by the Company consist of income producing operating properties, properties under development, land held for future development, and sold or held for disposition properties. As of March 31, 2014, the Company owned and consolidated 143 communities in 10 states plus the District of Columbia totaling 41,455 apartment homes. The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for our real estate owned (at cost) as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31,	December 31,	
	2014	2013	
Land and land improvements	\$1,966,204	\$1,847,127	
Depreciable property — held and used:			
Building, improvements, and furniture, fixtures and equipment	6,109,595	5,876,717	
Under development:			
Land and land improvements	47,038	110,769	
Construction in progress	175,563	356,644	
Real estate sold or held for disposition:			
Land and land improvements	10,751	10,751	
Building, improvements, and furniture, fixtures and equipment	5,969	5,969	
Real estate owned	8,315,120	8,207,977	
Accumulated depreciation	(2,279,928)	(2,208,794	)
Real estate owned, net	\$6,035,192	\$5,999,183	

Predevelopment, development, and redevelopment projects and related costs are capitalized and reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Total real estate owned, net of accumulated depreciation. The Company capitalizes costs directly related to the predevelopment, development, and redevelopment of a capital project, which include, but are not limited to, interest, real estate taxes, insurance, and allocated development and redevelopment overhead related to support costs for personnel working on the capital projects. We use our professional judgment in determining whether such costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred. These costs are capitalized only during the period in which activities necessary to ready an asset for its intended use are in progress and such costs are incremental and identifiable to a specific activity to get the asset ready for its intended use. These costs, excluding the direct costs of development and redevelopment and capitalized interest, for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, were \$3.4 million and \$3.0 million, respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, total interest capitalized was \$5.3 million and \$8.4 million, respectively. As each home in a capital project is completed and becomes available for lease-up, the Company ceases capitalization on the related portion and depreciation commences over the estimated useful life.

In January 2014, the Company acquired a fully-entitled land parcel for future development located in Huntington Beach, California for approximately \$78.0 million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company sold one operating property and an adjacent parcel of land in San Diego, CA for gross proceeds of \$48.7 million, resulting in net proceeds of \$47.9 million. The Company recognized a \$24.4 million gain, which is included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax on the

Consolidated Statements of Operations. There was no real estate sold during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

In October 2012, Hurricane Sandy hit the East Coast, affecting three of the Company's operating communities located in New York City. The properties suffered some physical damage, and were closed to residents for a period following the hurricane. The Company had insurance policies that provided coverage for property damage and business interruption, subject to applicable retentions.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company recorded \$3.0 million of insurance recovery related to the business interruption losses associated with Hurricane Sandy. This recovery was included in Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we recorded a \$500,000 casualty-related loss for one property damaged during an earthquake in California.

#### 4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Effective January 1, 2014, UDR prospectively adopted ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity, for all communities not previously sold or classified as held for sale. The standard had a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. As a result of adopting the ASU, a \$23.3 million gain from disposition of real estate, excluding a \$1.1 million gain related to the sale of land, during the three months ended March 31, 2014 was included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations rather than in Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Prior to the prospective adoption of ASU 2014-08, FASB ASC Subtopic 205.20, required, among other things, that the primary assets and liabilities and the results of operations of UDR's real properties that have been sold or are held for disposition, be classified as discontinued operations and segregated in UDR's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets. Consequently, the primary assets and liabilities and the net operating results of those properties sold or classified as held for disposition prior to January 1, 2014 are accounted for as discontinued operations for all periods presented. This presentation does not have an impact on net income available to common stockholders, it only results in the reclassification of the operating results within the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the reclassification of the assets and liabilities within the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had one operating property that was classified as held for sale and was not subject to early adoption. Therefore, as of March 31, 2014, this property was included in Real estate sold or held for disposition on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and its operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are included in Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Upon the sale of this property, a gain/(loss) will be reported as discontinued operations.

In December 2013, the Company sold two communities with 914 apartments in the Sacramento market. The operating results related to these communities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 are included in Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following is a summary of income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Three Mor	oths Ended March 31,
	2014	2013
Rental income	\$48	\$2,340
Rental expenses	125	872
Property management	1	64
Real estate depreciation		544
Other operating expenses	9	7
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax	\$(87	) \$853
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to UDR, Inc.	\$(84	) \$823

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 5. JOINT VENTURES AND PARTNERSHIPS

UDR has entered into joint ventures and partnerships with unrelated third parties to acquire real estate assets that are either consolidated and included in Real estate owned on the Consolidated Balance Sheets or are accounted for under the equity method of accounting, and are included in Investment in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures, Net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company consolidates the entities that we control as well as any variable interest entity where we are the primary beneficiary. In addition, the Company consolidates any joint venture or partnership in which we are the general partner or managing member and the third party does not have the ability to substantively participate in the decision-making process nor the ability to remove us as general partner or managing member without cause.

UDR's joint ventures and partnerships are funded with a combination of debt and equity. Our losses are limited to our investment and except as noted below, the Company does not guarantee any debt, capital payout or other obligations associated with our joint ventures and partnerships.

Consolidated Joint Ventures

In December 2013, the Company consolidated its 95%/5% development joint ventures 13th and Market JV in San Diego, CA and Domain College Park JV in Metropolitan, D.C. The consolidation was due to the Company becoming the managing member of each of the joint ventures pursuant to amendments to the limited liability company agreement for each joint venture. In connection with the amendments, our partner received equity distributions reducing its capital account balances to zero, the Company replaced our partner as the managing member, and our partner no longer has the ability to substantively participate in the decision-making process, with only protective rights remaining. We accounted for the consolidations as asset acquisitions since the joint ventures were under development and not complete at the time of consolidation resulting in no gain or loss upon consolidation and increasing our real estate owned by \$129.4 million and our debt by \$63.6 million. In addition pursuant to the amendments, the Company paid a non-refundable deposit to our partner in January 2014 of \$2.0 million for each joint venture, or \$4.0 million in total, for the right to exercise options in 2014 to acquire our partner's upside participation in the joint ventures. The non-refundable deposits will be applied towards the future purchase price, which will be equivalent to our partner's right to receive certain upside participation from the developments.

Unconsolidated Joint Ventures and Partnerships

The Company recognizes earnings or losses from our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and partnerships consisting of our proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of the joint ventures and partnerships. In addition, we may earn fees for providing management services to the unconsolidated joint ventures and partnerships.

### Table of Contents

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

The following table summarizes the Company's investment in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and partnerships, net which are accounted for under the equity method of accounting as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Joint Venture	Location of	Number of Properties	Number of Apartment Homes	Investment	at	UDR's C Interest	Ownership	
	Properties	2014	2014	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	March 3: 2014	1, December 2013	r 31,
Operating and develo	opment:							
UDR/MetLife I (a)	Various	6 operating communities	1,523	\$41,866	\$47,497	13.9	% 13.2	%
		7 land parcels	N/A			4.0	% 4.0	%
UDR/MetLife II (a)	Various	15 operating communities	3,119	325,025	327,926	50.0	% 50.0	%
UDR/MetLife Vitruvian Park®	Addison, TX	2 operating communities 1	739	80,338	79,318	50.0	% 50.0	%
		non-stabilized community	391					
		6 land parcels	N/A					
UDR/MetLife 399 Fremont	San Francisco, CA	1 development community (*)	447	46,862	36,313	51.0	% 51.0	%
UDR/KFH	Washington, D.C.	3 operating communities	660	24,854	25,919	30.0	% 30.0	%
Texas	Texas	8 operating communities	3,359	(24,217)	(23,591)	20.0	% 20.0	%
Investment in and adventures, net, before		-		494,728	493,382			
	Location	Interest Rate	Years To Maturity	Investment	at	Investme	ting Loan ent For The onths Ended	
				March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	2014	2013	
Participating loan in Steele Creek Participating loan in	Denver, CO	6.5%	3.6	23,199 23,199	14,273 14,273	\$321	\$	
Total investment in a unconsolidated joint (*)		0		\$517,927	\$507,655			

The number of apartment homes for the communities under development presented in the table above is based on the projected number of total homes. As of March 31, 2014, no apartment homes had been completed at UDR/MetLife 399 Fremont.

(a) On March 31, 2014, the Company sold its minority ownership interests in two small operating communities located in Los Angeles, CA to MetLife for cash proceeds of approximately \$3 million. An immaterial gain upon the sale of the two operating communities was recognized in connection with the transaction. On April 21, 2014, the Company increased its ownership interest in the remaining six operating communities in the UDR/MetLife I Joint Venture from 12 percent to 50 percent and MetLife and the Company contributed the communities to the UDR/MetLife II Joint Venture. The Company paid MetLife approximately \$82 million for the additional ownership interests. The remaining assets in the UDR/MetLife I Joint Venture are comprised of seven potential development land sites in which the Company owns approximately four percent. The Company will continue to manage

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

the operating communities that were contributed to the UDR/MetLife II Joint Venture as well as the two operating communities in which it sold its minority ownership interests.

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had deferred fees and deferred profit from the sale of properties to joint ventures or partnerships of \$25.6 million and \$25.4 million, respectively, which will be recognized through earnings over the weighted average life of the related properties, upon the disposition of the properties to a third party, or upon completion of certain development obligations.

The Company recognized \$3.3 million and \$2.7 million of management fees during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for our management of the joint ventures and partnerships. The management fees are included in Joint venture management and other fees on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company may, in the future, make additional capital contributions to certain of our joint ventures and partnerships should additional capital contributions be necessary to fund acquisitions or operations.

We evaluate our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures and partnerships when events or changes in circumstances indicate that there may be an other-than-temporary decline in value. We consider various factors to determine if a decrease in the value of the investment is other-than-temporary. The Company did not recognize any other-than-temporary decreases in the value of its investments in unconsolidated joint ventures or partnerships during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.

#### **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

Combined summary balance sheets relating to all of the unconsolidated joint ventures and partnerships (not just our proportionate share) are presented below as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31,	December 31,
	2014	2013
Total real estate, net	\$3,009,685	\$3,124,178
Cash and cash equivalents	36,783	41,792
Other assets	31,902	32,234
Total assets	3,078,370	3,198,204
Amount due to UDR	6,756	12,187
Third party debt	1,667,821	1,722,960
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	34,614	41,562
Total liabilities	1,709,191	1,776,709
Total equity	\$1,369,179	\$1,421,495
UDR's investment in unconsolidated joint ventures	\$517,927	\$507,655

Combined summary financial information relating to all of the unconsolidated joint ventures' and partnerships' operations (not just our proportionate share), is presented below for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months Ended March 31,			
	2014	2013		
Total revenues	\$62,098	\$52,127		
Property operating expenses	(25,137	) (20,737	)	
Real estate depreciation and amortization	(24,604	) (18,981	)	
Operating income/(loss)	12,357	12,409		
Interest expense	(19,029	) (16,738	)	
Other income/(expense)	(190	) —		
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate	\$(25,379	) \$—		
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations		661		
Net income/(loss)	\$(32,241	) \$(3,668	)	
UDR income/(loss) from unconsolidated entities	\$(3,565	) \$(2,802	)	

## **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

### 6. SECURED AND UNSECURED DEBT

The following is a summary of our secured and unsecured debt at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

urousurus).	Principal Ou	tstanding	For the Tl 2014	hree	e Months E	nded March 31,
	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	Weighted Average Interest R		Weighted Average Years to Maturity	Number of Communities Encumbered
Secured Debt:						
Fixed Rate Debt						
Mortgage notes payable (a)	\$443,187	\$445,706	5.45	%	2.3	8
Fannie Mae credit facilities (b)	625,428	626,667	4.99	%	4.8	22
Total fixed rate secured debt	1,068,615	1,072,373	5.18	%	3.7	30
Variable Rate Debt						
Mortgage notes payable	68,149	63,595	2.34	%	1.9	2
Tax-exempt secured notes payable (c)	94,700	94,700	0.79	%	8.9	2
Fannie Mae credit facilities (b)	211,409	211,409	1.59	%	6.3	7
Total variable rate secured debt	374,258	369,704	1.52	%	6.1	11
Total Secured Debt	1,442,873	1,442,077	4.23	%	4.4	41
Unsecured Debt: Commercial Banks						
Borrowings outstanding under an unsecured credit facility due December 2017 (d), (e) Senior Unsecured Notes	287,500	_	1.10	%	3.7	
3.70% Medium-Term Notes due October 2020 (net of discount of \$52 and \$54) (e)	299,948	299,946	3.70	%	6.5	
4.63% Medium-Term Notes due January 202 (net of discount of \$2,792 and \$2,882) (e)	<sup>2</sup> 397,208	397,118	4.63	%	7.8	
1.41% Term Notes due June 2018 (e)	35,000	35,000	1.41	%	4.2	
1.63% Term Notes due June 2018 (e)	100,000	65,000	1.63	%	4.2	
5.13% Medium-Term Notes due January 201	4—	184,000	_	%	_	
5.50% Medium-Term Notes due April 2014 (net of discount of \$3 and \$20) (f)	128,497	128,480	5.50	%	_	
5.25% Medium-Term Notes due January 201 (net of discount of \$102 and \$134)	<sup>5</sup> 325,073	325,041	5.25	%	0.8	
5.25% Medium-Term Notes due January 201	683,260	83,260	5.25	%	1.8	
2.27% Term Notes due June 2018 (e)	215,000	250,000	2.27	%	4.2	
8.50% Debentures due September 2024	15,644	15,644	8.50	%	10.5	
4.25% Medium-Term Notes due June 2018 (net of discount of \$1786 and \$1,893) (e)	298,214	298,107	4.25	%	4.2	
Other	29	30	N/A		N/A	
Total Unsecured Debt	2,185,373	2,081,626	3.77	%	4.3	

Total Debt \$3,628,246 \$3,523,703 3.95 % 4.3

Our secured debt instruments generally feature either monthly interest and principal or monthly interest-only payments with balloon payments due at maturity. For purposes of classification of the above table, variable rate debt with a derivative financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge is deemed as fixed rate debt due to the Company having effectively established a fixed interest rate for the underlying debt instrument. Secured debt encumbers \$2.3 billion or 27.7% of UDR's total real estate owned based upon gross book value (\$6.0 billion or 72.3% of UDR's real estate owned based on gross book value is unencumbered) as of March 31, 2014.

Table of Contents
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

(a) At March 31, 2014, fixed rate mortgage notes payable are generally due in monthly installments of principal and interest and mature at various dates from December 2014 through May 2019 and carry interest rates ranging from 3.43% to 5.94%.

The Company will from time to time acquire properties subject to fixed rate debt instruments. In those situations, the Company records the secured debt at its estimated fair value and amortize any difference between the fair value and par to interest expense over the life of the underlying debt instrument. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had \$1.3 million of a reduction to interest expense based on the amortization of the fair market adjustment of debt assumed in the acquisition of properties, respectively. The unamortized fair market adjustment was a net premium of \$10.6 million and \$11.8 million at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

(b) UDR has three secured credit facilities with Fannie Mae with an aggregate commitment of \$836.8 million at March 31, 2014. The Fannie Mae credit facilities are for terms of seven to ten years (maturing at various dates from May 2017 through July 2023) and bear interest at floating and fixed rates. At March 31, 2014, we have \$625.4 million of the outstanding balance fixed at a weighted average interest rate of 4.99% and the remaining balance of \$211.4 million on these facilities is currently at a weighted average variable interest rate of 1.59%.

Further information related to these credit facilities is as follows (dollars in thousands):

	March 31, 2014	December 31 2013	1,
Borrowings outstanding	\$836,837	\$838,076	
Weighted average borrowings during the period ended	837,194	839,597	
Maximum daily borrowings during the period ended	837,564	841,494	
Weighted average interest rate during the period ended	4.1 %	4.2	%
Weighted average interest rate at the end of the period	4.1 %	4.1	%

- (c) The variable rate mortgage notes payable that secure tax-exempt housing bond issues mature on August 2019 and March 2032, respectively. Interest on these notes is payable in monthly installments. The variable rate mortgage notes have interest rates of 0.78% and 0.82%, respectively, as of March 31, 2014.
- (d) As of March 31, 2014, the Company has a \$900 million unsecured revolving credit facility that matures in December 2017. The credit facility has a six month extension option and contains an accordion feature that allows us to increase the facility to \$1.45 billion. Based on the Company's current credit rating, the credit facility carries an interest rate equal to LIBOR plus a spread of 110 basis points and a facility fee of 20 basis points.

The following is a summary of short-term bank borrowings under UDR's bank credit facility at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31, 2014	1 December 2013	per 31,	
Total revolving credit facility	\$900,000	\$900,00	00	
Borrowings outstanding at end of period (1)	287,500	_		
Weighted average daily borrowings during the period ended	232,750	169,844	1	
Maximum daily borrowings during the period ended	303,000	372,000	)	
Weighted average interest rate during the period ended	1.2	% 1.2	%	ó
Interest rate at end of the period	1.1	% 1.3	%	ó

(1) Excludes \$2.2 million and \$2.2 million of letters of credit at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

(e) The Operating Partnership is a guarantor at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

#### **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

(f) In April 2014, we paid off \$128.5 million of 5.50% medium-term notes due April 2014 with borrowings under the Company's \$900 million unsecured revolving credit facility.

The aggregate maturities, including amortizing principal payments of unsecured and secured debt, of total debt for the next five calendar years subsequent to March 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year	Total Fixed	Total Variable	Total Secured	Total Unsecured	Total Debt	
	Secured Debt	Secured Debt	Debt	Debt (a)	Total Debt	
2014	\$43,147	<b>\$</b> —	\$43,147	\$127,820	\$170,967	
2015	196,539	_	196,539	324,383	520,922	
2016	138,222	68,149	206,371	82,478	288,849	
2017	177,941	65,000	242,941	287,500	530,441	
2018	176,382	50,000	226,382	648,646	875,028	
Thereafter	336,384	191,109	527,493	714,546	1,242,039	
Total	\$1,068,615	\$374,258	\$1,442,873	\$2,185,373	\$3,628,246	

<sup>(</sup>a) With the exception of the 1.41% Term Notes due June 2018 and the revolving credit facility which carry a variable interest rate, all unsecured debt carries fixed interest rates.

We were in compliance with the covenants of our debt instruments at March 31, 2014.

#### **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

#### 7. INCOME/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income/(loss) per share for the periods presented (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data):

(donars and shares in mousands, except per share data).				
		s E	Ended March 3	31,
	2014		2013	
Numerator for income/(loss) per share:				
Income/(loss) from continuing operations	\$(5,195	)	\$(1,162	)
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax	24,294			
(Income)/loss from continuing operations attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership	(650	)	75	
(Income)/loss from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests	(4	)	(4	)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to UDR, Inc.	18,445		(1,091	)
Distributions to preferred stockholders - Series E (Convertible)	(931	)	(931	)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders	\$17,514		\$(2,022	)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax	\$(87	)	\$853	
(Income)/loss from discontinued operations attributable to redeemable noncontrolling	5 2		(20)	`
interests in the Operating Partnership	3		(30	)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders	\$(84	)	\$823	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$17,430		\$(1,199	)
Denominator for income/(loss) per share:				
Weighted average common shares outstanding	251,213		250,500	
Non-vested restricted stock awards	(1,036	)	(583	)
Denominator for basic income/(loss) per share	250,177		249,917	
Incremental shares issuable from assumed conversion of:	1,645			
Stock options and unvested restricted stock	1,043			
Denominator for diluted income/(loss) per share	251,822		249,917	
Income/(loss) per weighted average common share-basic:				
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07		\$(0.01	)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders	\$(0.00	)	\$0.00	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07		\$0.00	
Income/(loss) per weighted average common share-diluted:				
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07		\$(0.01	)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders	\$0.00		\$0.00	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$0.07		\$0.00	
Racic income/(loss) per common share is computed based upon the weighted average	number of co	mı	non charec	

Basic income/(loss) per common share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted income/(loss) per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the common shares issuable from the assumed conversion of the OP Units, convertible preferred stock, stock options, and restricted stock. Only those instruments having a dilutive impact on our basic income/(loss) per share are included in diluted income/(loss) per share during the periods.

Table of Contents
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the effect of the conversion of the OP Units, convertible preferred stock, stock options and restricted stock was not dilutive, and was therefore not included in the above calculations as the Company reported a loss from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders.

The following table sets forth the additional shares of common stock outstanding by equity instrument if converted to common stock for each of the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (shares in thousands):

	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2014	2013	
OP Units	9,319	9,381	
Preferred stock	3,036	3,036	
Stock options and unvested restricted stock	1,645	1,293	

#### 8. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership

Interests in the Operating Partnership held by limited partners are represented by OP Units. The income is allocated to holders of OP Units based upon net income attributable to common stockholders and the weighted average number of OP Units outstanding to total common shares plus OP Units outstanding during the period. Capital contributions, distributions, and profits and losses are allocated to noncontrolling interests in accordance with the terms of the individual partnership agreements.

Limited partners have the right to require the Operating Partnership to redeem all or a portion of the OP Units held by the limited partners at a redemption price equal to and in the form of the Cash Amount as defined in the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership (the "Operating Partnership Agreement"), provided that such OP Units have been outstanding for at least one year. UDR, as the general partner of the Operating Partnership may, in its sole discretion, purchase the OP Units by paying to the limited partner either the Cash Amount or the REIT Share Amount (generally one share of common stock of the Company for each OP Unit), as defined in the Operating Partnership Agreement. Accordingly, the Company records the OP Units outside of permanent equity and reports the OP Units at their redemption value using the Company's stock price at each balance sheet date. The following table sets forth redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership for the following period (dollars in thousands):

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership, December 31, 2013	\$217,597	
Mark-to-market adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership	24,957	
Net income/(loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership	647	
Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership	(2,549	)
Allocation of other comprehensive income/(loss)	56	
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership, March 31, 2014	\$240,708	

The following sets forth net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders and transfers from redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership for the following periods (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months Ended March 31		
	2014	2013	
Net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$17,430	\$(1,199	)
Conversion of OP Units to UDR Common stock		1,649	
Change in equity from net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders and conversion of OP Units to UDR Common Stock	\$17,430	\$450	

#### **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

#### Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent interests of unrelated partners in certain consolidated affiliates, and are presented as part of equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets since these interests are not redeemable. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests was \$(4,000) and \$(4,000), respectively.

## 9. FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level valuation hierarchy prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which are described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated with observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments either recorded or disclosed on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Total Carrying		Fair Value at March 31, 2014, Using Quoted Prices		
Amount in Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2014	Fair Value Estimate at March 31, 2014	in Active Markets for Identical Assets or Liabilities (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
\$84,568	\$85,344	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$85,344
274	274	_	274	_
\$84,842	\$85,618	<b>\$</b> —	\$274	\$85,344
\$3,812	\$3,812	\$—	\$3,812	\$
443,187	460,635		_	460,635
625,428	659,923			659,923
68,149	68,149	_	_	68,149
94,700	94,700	_	_	94,700
211,409	211,409	_	_	211,409
	Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2014  \$84,568 274 \$84,842  \$3,812  443,187 625,428	Amount in Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2014  \$84,568 \$85,344 274 \$84,842 \$85,618  \$3,812 \$3,812  443,187 460,635 625,428 659,923  68,149 94,700 94,700	Total Carrying Amount in Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2014	Total Carrying Amount in Statement of Financial Position at March 31, 2014  \$84,568

Edgar Filing: U	JDR, Inc.	- Form	10-Q
-----------------	-----------	--------	------

Commercial bank Senior unsecured notes Total liabilities	287,500 1,897,873 \$3,632,058	287,500 1,974,858 \$3,760,986	 \$	<u> </u>	287,500 1,974,858 \$3,757,174
Redeemable noncontrolling interests is the Operating Partnership (d)	n \$240,708	\$240,708	<b>\$</b> —	\$240,708	<b>\$</b> —
23					

# Table of Contents UDR, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued) MARCH 31, 2014

	Total Comming	Fair Value at December 31, 2  Quoted Prices			
	Total Carrying Amount in Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2013	Fair Value Estimate at December 31, 2013	in Active Markets for Identical Assets or Liabilities (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Description:					
Notes receivable (a)	\$83,033	\$83,833	\$—	\$—	\$83,833
Total assets	\$83,033	\$83,833	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	\$83,833
Derivatives- Interest rate contracts (b) Secured debt instruments- fixed rate: (c)	\$4,965	\$4,965	\$—	\$4,965	\$—
Mortgage notes payable	445,706	466,375			466,375
Fannie Mae credit facilities	626,667	661,094	_	_	661,094
Secured debt instruments- variable rate: (c)					
Mortgage notes payable	63,595	63,595	_	_	63,595
Tax-exempt secured notes payable	94,700	94,700	_	_	94,700
Fannie Mae credit facilities	211,409	211,409	_	_	211,409
Unsecured debt instruments: (c)					
Senior unsecured notes	2,081,626	2,149,003	_	_	2,149,003
Total liabilities	\$3,528,668	\$3,651,141	<b>\$</b> —	\$4,965	\$3,646,176
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership (d)	<sup>1</sup> \$217,597	\$217,597	\$—	217,597	\$—

<sup>(</sup>a) See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies.

There were no transfers into or out of each of the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value

The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves. The fair values of interest rate options are determined using the market standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts that would occur if variable interest rates rise above the strike rate of the caps. The variable interest rates used in the calculation of projected receipts on the cap are based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities.

<sup>(</sup>b) See Note 10, Derivatives and Hedging Activity.

<sup>(</sup>c) See Note 6, Secured and Unsecured Debt.

<sup>(</sup>d) See Note 8, Noncontrolling Interests.

The Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives. As a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. In conjunction with the FASB's fair value measurement guidance, the Company made an accounting policy election to measure the credit risk of its derivative financial instruments that are subject to master netting agreements on a net basis by counterparty portfolio. Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership have a redemption feature and are marked to their redemption value. The redemption value is based on the fair value of the Company's common stock at the redemption date, and therefore, is calculated based on the fair value of the Company's common stock at the balance sheet date. Since the valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership are classified as Level 2. Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

At March 31, 2014, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, prepaids, real estate taxes payable, accrued interest payable, security deposits and prepaid rent, distributions payable and accounts payable approximated their carrying values because of the short term nature of these instruments. The estimated fair values of other financial instruments were determined by the Company using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop estimated fair values. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company would realize on the disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

We estimate the fair value of our notes receivable and debt instruments by discounting the remaining cash flows of the debt instrument at a discount rate equal to the replacement market credit spread plus the corresponding treasury yields. Factors considered in determining a replacement market credit spread include general market conditions, borrower specific credit spreads, time remaining to maturity, loan-to-value ratios and collateral quality, where applicable (Level 3).

We record impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by the future operation and disposition of those assets are less than the net book value of those assets. Our cash flow estimates are based upon historical results adjusted to reflect our best estimate of future market and operating conditions and our estimated holding periods. The net book value of impaired assets is reduced to fair value. Our estimates of fair value represent our best estimate based upon Level 3 inputs such as industry trends and reference to market rates and transactions. We consider various factors to determine if a decrease in the value of our investment in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures, net is other-than-temporary. These factors include, but are not limited to, age of the venture, our intent and ability to retain our investment in the entity, the financial condition and long-term prospects of the entity, and the relationships with the other joint venture partners and its lenders. Based on the significance of the unobservable inputs, we classify these fair value measurements within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. The Company did not incur any other-than-temporary decrease in the value of its investments in unconsolidated joint ventures during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

After determining an other-than-temporary decrease in the value of an equity method investment has occurred, we estimate the fair value of our investment by estimating the proceeds we would receive upon a hypothetical liquidation of the investment at the date of measurement. Inputs reflect management's best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the investment giving consideration to the terms of the joint venture agreement and the estimated discounted future cash flows to be generated from the underlying joint venture assets. The inputs and assumptions utilized to estimate the future cash flows of the underlying assets are based upon the Company's evaluation of the economy, market trends, operating results, and other factors, including judgments regarding costs to complete any

construction activities, lease up and occupancy rates, rental rates, inflation rates, capitalization rates utilized to estimate the projected cash flows at the disposition, and discount rates.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 10. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITY

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Company is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business operations and economic conditions. The Company principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business activities. The Company manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of its debt funding and through the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the Company may enter into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. The Company's derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the Company's known or expected cash receipts and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Company's investments and borrowings.

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The Company's objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps and caps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. Interest rate caps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty if interest rates rise above the strike rate on the contract in exchange for an up front premium.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income(loss), net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded no ineffectiveness and less than a \$1,000 loss from ineffectiveness in earnings attributable to an index mismatch between the derivative and the hedged item, respectively.

Amounts reported in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company's variable-rate debt. Through March 31, 2015, the Company estimates that an additional \$3.7 million will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense.

As of March 31, 2014, the Company had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk (dollars in thousands):

Interest Rate Derivative	Number of	Notional
	Instruments	
Interest rate swaps	11	\$419,787
Interest rate caps	6	\$274,291

Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage the Company's exposure to interest rate movements and other identified risks but do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements of GAAP. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in earnings and resulted in a gain/(loss) of \$0 and \$(2,000) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of March 31, 2014, the Company had the following outstanding derivatives that were not designated as hedges in qualifying hedging relationships (dollars in thousands):

Product Notional

Number of Instruments

Interest rate caps 2 \$155,197

# **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

## Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet

The tables below present the fair value of the Company's derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Asset Derivatives			Liability Derivatives				
		Fair Value at:		Fair Value at		•		
	Balance Sheet Location	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	Balance Sheet Location	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013		
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:								
Interest rate products	Other assets	\$274	\$—	Other liabilities	\$3,812	\$4,965		
Total Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:		\$274	<b>\$</b> —		\$3,812	\$4,965		
Interest rate products	Other assets	\$	\$	Other liabilities	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —		
Total		<b>\$</b> —	\$—		<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —		
27								

## **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

Tabular Disclosure of the Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations
The tables below present the effect of the Company's derivative financial instruments on the Consolidated Statements
of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Location of

Amount of Gain or

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships	(Loss) in OC Deriva		nized	Location Gain on (Loss) Reclass from Accum OCI in Income (Effect Portion	sified ulated to	Amount of (Loss) Re from Acco OCI into 1 (Effective	classified umulated Income	Cocation of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivative (Ineffective Portion and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)	(Loss) Rein Incom	re ve Portion unt l from	
For the Three Months Ended March 31,											
Interest rate products	\$(55	) \$(9	92 )	Interest		\$(1,532)	\$(1,937)	Interest expense	\$	\$—	
Total	\$(55	) \$(9	92 )			\$(1,532)	\$(1,937)	r	\$	<b>\$</b> —	
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments					or (Lo	gnized in ne on		t of Gain or (Lo on Derivative	oss) Recog	nized in	
For the Three Months I	Ended M	1arch 3	1,								
Interest rate products						st and other ne, net	r \$—		\$(2	)	)
Total						,	<b>\$</b> —		\$(2	)	)

#### Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements with some of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where (1) if the Company defaults on any of its indebtedness, including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations; or (2) the Company could be declared in default on its derivative obligations if repayment of the underlying indebtedness is accelerated by the lender due to the Company's default on the indebtedness.

Certain of the Company's agreements with its derivative counterparties contain provisions where if there is a change in the Company's financial condition that materially changes the Company's creditworthiness in an adverse manner, the Company may be required to fully collateralize its obligations under the derivative instrument.

The Company also has an agreement with a derivative counterparty that incorporates the loan and financial covenant provisions of the Company's indebtedness with a lender affiliate of the derivative counterparty. Failure to comply with these covenant provisions would result in the Company being in default on any derivative instrument obligations covered by the agreement.

As of March 31, 2014, the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position, which includes accrued interest but excludes any adjustment for nonperformance risk, related to these agreements was \$4.0 million. As of March 31, 2014, the Company has not

**Table of Contents** 

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

posted any collateral related to these agreements. If the Company had breached any of these provisions at March 31, 2014, it may have been required to settle its obligations under the agreements at their termination value of \$4.0 million.

Tabular Disclosure of Offsetting Derivatives

Company has elected not to offset derivative positions in the consolidated financial statements. The tables below present the effect on its financial position had the Company made the election to offset its derivative positions as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollar in thousands):

Sheets Gross Gross Net Amounts of Amounts Cash Amounts of Offset in the Assets Presented in Financial Collateral Net Amount Recognized Consolidated the Consolidated Instruments Received Balance Sheets (a) Balance Assets Sheets March 31, 2014 \$274 \$274 \$(92 ) \$— \$182 December 31, \$\_\_\_ \$---\$--

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated Balance

Gross Amounts Not Offset in

(a) Amounts reconcile to the aggregate fair value of derivative assets in the "Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet" located in this footnote.

Offsetting of Derivative Liabilities

2013

				the Consolidated Balance Sheets					
	Gross Amounts of Recognized Liabilities	Gross Amounts Offset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets	Net Amounts of Liabilities Presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (b)	Financial Instruments		Cash Collateral Posted	Net Amount		
March 31, 2014	\$3,812	<b>\$</b> —	\$3,812	\$(92	)	\$—	\$3,720		
December 31, 2013	\$4,965	<b>\$</b> —	\$4,965	<b>\$</b> —		\$—	\$4,965		

(b) Amounts reconcile to the aggregate fair value of derivative liabilities in the "Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet" located in this footnote.

## 11. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, we recognized \$3.7 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, as stock based compensation expense, which is inclusive of awards granted to our independent directors.

**Table of Contents** 

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

#### 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Real Estate Under Development

The following summarizes the Company's real estate commitments at March 31, 2014 (dollars in thousands):

	Number of Properties	Costs Incurr to Date	ed	Expected Cost to Complete	CS.	Average Ownersh Stake	
Wholly-owned — under development	3	\$222,601	(a)	\$177,799		100	%
Wholly-owned — redevelopment	2	145,589	(a)	32,394		100	%
Joint ventures:							
Unconsolidated joint ventures	1	79,703		120,004	(b)	51	%
Participating loan investments	1	23,199		68,810	(c)	0	%
		\$471,092		\$399,007			

- (a) Costs incurred to date include \$23.6 million and \$4.0 million of accrued fixed assets for development and redevelopment, respectively.
- (b) Represents UDR's remaining equity commitment in unconsolidated joint ventures.
- (c) Represents UDR's remaining participating loan commitment for Steele Creek.

Contingencies

Litigation and Legal Matters

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company cannot determine the ultimate liability with respect to such legal proceedings and claims at this time. The Company believes that such liability, to the extent not provided for through insurance or otherwise, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

## 13. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

GAAP guidance requires that segment disclosures present the measure(s) used by the chief operating decision maker to decide how to allocate resources and for purposes of assessing such segments' performance. UDR's chief operating decision maker is comprised of several members of its executive management team who use several generally accepted industry financial measures to assess the performance of the business for our reportable operating segments. UDR owns and operates multifamily apartment communities that generate rental and other property related income through the leasing of apartment homes to a diverse base of tenants. The primary financial measures for UDR's apartment communities are rental income and net operating income ("NOI"). Rental income represents gross market rent less adjustments for concessions, vacancy loss and bad debt. NOI is defined as rental income less direct property rental expenses. Rental expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, personnel, utilities, repairs and maintenance, administrative and marketing. Excluded from NOI is property management expense which is calculated as 2.75% of property revenue to cover the regional supervision and accounting costs related to consolidated property operations, and land rent. UDR's chief operating decision maker utilizes NOI as the key measure of segment profit or loss. UDR's two reportable segments are Same-Store Communities and Non-Mature Communities/Other:

Same-Store Communities represent those communities acquired, developed, and stabilized prior to January 1, 2013 and held as of March 31, 2014. A comparison of operating results from the prior year is meaningful as these communities were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior period, there is no plan to conduct substantial redevelopment activities, and the community is not held for disposition within

Table of Contents
UDR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

the current year. A community is considered to have stabilized occupancy once it achieves 90% occupancy for at least three consecutive months.

Non-Mature Communities/Other represent those communities that do not meet the criteria to be included in Same-Store Communities, including, but not limited to, recently acquired, developed, redeveloped, and the non-apartment components of mixed use properties.

Management evaluates the performance of each of our apartment communities on a Same-Store Community and Non-Mature Community/Other basis, as well as individually and geographically. This is consistent with the aggregation criteria under GAAP as each of our apartment communities generally has similar economic characteristics, facilities, services, and tenants. Therefore, the Company's reportable segments have been aggregated by geography in a manner identical to that which is provided to the chief operating decision maker.

All revenues are from external customers and no single tenant or related group of tenants contributed 10% or more of UDR's total revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.

# **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

The following table details rental income and NOI from continuing and discontinued operations for UDR's reportable segments for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and reconciles NOI to Net Income/(Loss) Attributable to UDR, Inc. in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months Ended March 31			1,
	2014	2	2013	
Reportable apartment home segment rental income				
Same-Store Communities				
West Region	\$61,536	9	\$57,746	
Mid-Atlantic Region	41,820	4	41,351	
Southeast Region	29,866	2	28,544	
Northeast Region	14,779		14,099	
Southwest Region	13,467		12,773	
Non-Mature Communities/Other	32,932	2	29,788	
Total consolidated rental income	\$194,400	9	\$184,301	
Reportable apartment home segment NOI				
Same-Store Communities				
West Region	\$44,376	9	\$41,048	
Mid-Atlantic Region	28,674	2	28,762	
Southeast Region	20,062		18,705	
Northeast Region	10,730		10,071	
Southwest Region	8,358	-	7,701	
Non-Mature Communities/Other	19,924		19,029	
Total consolidated NOI	132,124		125,316	
Reconciling items:				
Joint venture management and other fees	3,687	2	2,923	
Property management	(5,346	) (	(5,068	)
Other operating expenses	(1,935	) (	(1,643	)
Real estate depreciation and amortization	(88,533	) (	(83,442	)
General and administrative	(11,994	) (	(9,476	)
Casualty-related recoveries/(charges), net	(500	) 3	3,021	
Other depreciation and amortization	(1,080	) (	(1,146	)
Income/(loss) from unconsolidated entities	(3,565	) (	(2,802	)
Interest expense	(32,884	) (	(30,981	)
Interest and other income/(expense), net	1,415		1,016	
Tax benefit, net	3,329		1,973	
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned, net of tax	24,294	-		
Net (income)/loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating	g (647	) 4	45	
Partnership	(047	) '	+3	
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(4	) (	(4	)
Net income/(loss) attributable to UDR, Inc.	\$18,361	9	\$(268	)

## **Table of Contents**

UDR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (Continued)

MARCH 31, 2014

The following table details the assets of UDR's reportable segments as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Reportable apartment home segment assets:		
Same-Store Communities:		
West Region	\$2,394,571	\$2,392,681
Mid-Atlantic Region	1,433,658	1,431,590
Southeast Region	892,739	889,753
Northeast Region	740,235	738,805
Southwest Region	436,008	435,009
Non-Mature Communities/Other	2,417,909	2,320,139
Total assets	8,315,120	8,207,977
Accumulated depreciation	(2,279,928)	(2,208,794)
Total assets — net book value	6,035,192	5,999,183
Reconciling items:		
Cash and cash equivalents	15,891	30,249
Restricted cash	23,131	22,796
Deferred financing costs, net	25,516	26,924
Notes receivable, net	84,568	83,033
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures, net	517,927	507,655
Other assets	131,798	137,882
Total consolidated assets	\$6,834,023	\$6,807,722

Capital expenditures related to our Same-Store Communities totaled \$8.0 million and \$6.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Capital expenditures related to our Non-Mature Communities/Other totaled \$1.8 million and \$526,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Markets included in the above geographic segments are as follows:

- . West Region San Francisco, Orange County, Seattle, Monterey Peninsula, Los Angeles, Other Southern California, and Portland
- ii. Mid-Atlantic Region Metropolitan D.C., Baltimore, Richmond, Norfolk, and Other Mid-Atlantic
- iii. Northeast Region New York and Boston
- iv. Southeast Region Tampa, Orlando, Nashville, and Other Florida
- v. Southwest Region Dallas and Austin

# Table of Contents

[This page is intentionally left blank.]

# UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except for unit data)

ASSETS	March 31, 2014 (unaudited)	December 31, 2013 (audited)
Real estate owned: Real estate held for investment Less: accumulated depreciation Real estate held for investment, net Real estate under development (net of accumulated depreciation \$0 and \$0,	2,807,255	\$4,108,417 ) (1,241,574 ) 2,866,843
respectively)	89,838	80,063
Total real estate owned, net of accumulated depreciation Cash and cash equivalents Restricted cash Deferred financing costs, net Other assets Total assets	2,897,093 853 13,155 5,491 23,446 \$2,940,038	2,946,906 1,897 13,526 5,848 25,064 \$2,993,241
LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL		
Liabilities: Secured debt Notes payable due to General Partner Real estate taxes payable Accrued interest payable Security deposits and prepaid rent Distributions payable Deferred gains on the sale of depreciable property Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities Total liabilities  Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)	\$932,636 88,696 9,001 3,278 15,952 47,788 63,838 26,225 1,187,414	\$934,865 88,696 6,228 3,323 14,172 43,253 63,838 35,769 1,190,144
Capital: Partners' capital: General partner: 110,883 OP Units outstanding at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013	1,153	1,163
Limited partners: 183,167,815 OP Units outstanding at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013	1,780,592	1,797,836
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net Total partners' capital Payable/(receivable) due to/(from) General Partner Noncontrolling interests Total capital Total liabilities and capital See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.	1,779,252	) (3,065 ) 1,795,934 ) (9,916 ) 17,079 1,803,097 \$2,993,241

# UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per unit data) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 2014 2013		
REVENUES:			
Rental income	\$102,370	\$97,770	
OPERATING EXPENSES:			
Property operating and maintenance	18,234	17,979	
Real estate taxes and insurance	11,719	11,173	
Property management	2,815	2,689	
Other operating expenses	1,436	1,386	
Real estate depreciation and amortization	44,271	44,856	
General and administrative	6,970	5,575	
Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net	500	(2,019)	
Total operating expenses	85,945	81,639	
Operating income	16,425	16,131	
Interest expense	(8,863	) (8,995 )	
Interest expense on note payable due to General Partner	(1,151	) (267 )	
Income/(loss) from continuing operations	6,411	6,869	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations	_	905	
Income/(loss) before gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned	6,411	7,774	
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned	24,402	_	
Net income/(loss)	30,813	7,774	
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(280	) (45	
Net income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$30,533	\$7,729	
Income/(loss) per weighted average OP Unit - basic and diluted:			
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to OP unitholders	\$0.17	\$0.04	
Income(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to OP unitholders	<b>\$</b> —	\$0.00	
Net income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$0.17	\$0.04	
Weighted average OP Units outstanding - basic and diluted See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.	183,279	184,281	

# UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

(In thousands) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 3			
	2014		2013	
Net income/(loss)	\$30,813		\$7,774	
Other comprehensive income/(loss), including portion attributable to noncontrolling interests:  Other comprehensive income/(loss) - derivative instruments:				
Unrealized holding gain/(loss)	(51	)	(54	)
(Gain)/loss reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income/(loss)	623	,	869	,
Other comprehensive income/(loss), including portion attributable to noncontrolling interests	572		815	
Comprehensive income/(loss)	31,385		8,589	
Comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(280	)	(45	)
Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$31,105		\$8,544	
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.				

# UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL (In thousands) (Unaudited)

			UDR, Inc.		Accumul	ated	Payable/(F	Receivable	<i>:</i> )	
	Class A Limited Partners	Limited Partners	Limited Partner		Other Compreh Income/(I		due to/(from) General Partner	Noncont: Interests	_	
Balance at										
December 31, 2013	\$40,902	\$176,695	\$1,580,239	\$1,163	\$(3,065)	\$1,795,934	\$(9,916)	\$17,079	\$1,803,097	
Net income/(loss)	292	1,261	28,962	18		30,533	_	280	30,813	
Distributions	(582)	(1,967)	(45,210)	(28)	_	(47,787)	_		(47,787	)
Adjustment to reflect limited partners' capita at redemption value	n14,634	19,473	(24,107 )	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Other comprehensive income/(loss)	: <del></del>	_	_	_	572	572	_	_	572	
Net change in amount due to/(from) General Partne		_	_	_	_	_	(34,071 )	_		)
Balance at March 31, 2014	4\$45,246	\$195,462	\$1,539,884	\$1,153	\$(2,493)	\$1,779,252	\$(43,987)	\$17,359	\$1,752,624	
See accompany	ying notes t	to the conso	lidated financ	ial statem	nents.					

# UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands, except for unit data)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31,		
2014	-	2013	
Operating Activities			
Net income/(loss) 30,8	13	7,774	
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating			
activities:		47.000	
Depreciation and amortization 44,2°		45,393	
Gain on sale of real estate owned (24,4)	102 )	_	
Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net 500		(519)	
Other 32		523	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets 1,510		(7,585)	
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities (4,05)	52 )	(3,033)	
Net cash provided by operating activities 48,6°	72	42,553	
Investing Activities			
Proceeds from sale of real estate investments, net 47,99	22	_	
Development of real estate assets (9,86	50 )	(9,446)	
Capital expenditures and other major improvements — real estate assets, net of escrow (9,18)		(17.010	
reimbursement (9,18	31 )	(17,219 )	
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 28,88	81	(26,665 )	
Financing Activities			
Advances from/(to) General Partner, net (74,9	963	(12,177 )	
Payments on secured debt (1,27)			
Distributions paid to partnership unitholders (2,36)		(1,295 ) (2,263 )	
Payments of financing costs —	,	(6)	
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (78,5)	597 )	(15,741 )	
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,04)	,	147	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,89°		2,804	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period \$853		\$2,951	
Supplemental Information:			
Interest paid during the period, net of amounts capitalized \$10,	742	\$12,028	
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.		~ 1 <b>2,</b> 0 <b>2</b> 0	
39			

Table of Contents
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 1. CONSOLIDATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

United Dominion Realty, L.P. ("UDR, L.P.," the "Operating Partnership," "we" or "our") is a Delaware limited partnership, that owns, acquires, renovates, redevelops, manages, and disposes of multifamily apartment communities generally located in high barrier to entry markets located in the United States. The high barrier to entry markets are characterized by limited land for new construction, difficult and lengthy entitlement process, expensive single-family home prices and significant employment growth potential. UDR, L.P. is a subsidiary of UDR, Inc. ("UDR" or the "General Partner"), a self-administered real estate investment trust, or REIT, through which UDR conducts a significant portion of its business. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, rental revenues of the Operating Partnership represented 53% and 54%, respectively, of the General Partner's consolidated rental revenues (including those classified within discontinued operations). At March 31, 2014, the Operating Partnership's apartment portfolio consisted of 67 communities located in 17 markets consisting of 20,482 apartment homes.

Interests in UDR, L.P. are represented by operating partnership units ("OP Units"). The Operating Partnership's net income is allocated to the partners, which is initially based on their respective distributions made during the year and secondly, their percentage interests. Distributions are made in accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of United Dominion Realty, L.P. (the "Operating Partnership Agreement"), on a per unit basis that is generally equal to the dividend per share on UDR's common stock, which is publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the ticker symbol "UDR".

As of March 31, 2014, there were 183,278,698 OP Units outstanding, of which, 173,959,774 or 94.9% were owned by UDR and affiliated entities and 9,318,924 or 5.1% were owned by non-affiliated limited partners. See Note 9, Capital Structure.

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States have been condensed or omitted according to such rules and regulations, although management believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. In the opinion of management, all adjustments and eliminations necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position as of March 31, 2014, and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 have been included. Such adjustments are normal and recurring in nature. The interim results presented are not necessarily indicative of results that can be expected for a full year. The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2013 included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by UDR and the Operating Partnership with the SEC on February 25, 2014.

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated statements are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the dates of the interim unaudited consolidated financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual amounts realized or paid could differ from those estimates. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Operating Partnership evaluated subsequent events through the date its financial statements were issued. No recognized or non-recognized subsequent events were noted.

#### 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

**Recent Accounting Pronouncements** 

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity, which incorporates a requirement that a disposition represent a strategic shift in an entity's operations into the definition of a

Table of Contents
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

discontinued operation. In accordance with the ASU, a discontinued operation represents (1) a component of an entity or group of components that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale in a single transaction and represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on an entity's financial results, or (2) an acquired business that is classified as held for sale on the date of acquisition. A strategic shift could include a disposal of (1) a separate major line of business, (2) a separate major geographic area of operations, (3) a major equity method investment, or (4) other major parts of an entity. The standard requires prospective application and will be effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014 with early adoption permitted. The early adoption provision excludes components of an entity that were sold or classified as held for sale prior to the adoption of the standard. The Company elected to early adopt this standard effective January 1, 2014, which had a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements as further discussed in Note 4, Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale. Subsequent to the Company's adoption of ASU 2014-08, the sale of real estate that does not meet the definition of a discontinued operation under the standard is included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue and Real Estate Sales Gain Recognition

Rental income related to leases is recognized on an accrual basis when due from residents and tenants in accordance with GAAP. Rental payments are generally due on a monthly basis and recognized when earned. The Operating Partnership recognizes interest income, management and other fees and incentives when earned, fixed and determinable.

For sale transactions meeting the requirements for full accrual profit recognition, we remove the related assets and liabilities from our Consolidated Balance Sheets and record the gain or loss in the period the transaction closes. For sale transactions that do not meet the full accrual sale criteria due to our continuing involvement, we evaluate the nature of the continuing involvement and account for the transaction under an alternate method of accounting. Unless certain limited criteria are met, non-monetary transactions, including property exchanges, are accounted for at fair value.

Sales to entities in which we or our General Partner retain or otherwise own an interest are accounted for as partial sales. If all other requirements for recognizing profit under the full accrual method have been satisfied and no other forms of continuing involvement are present, we recognize profit proportionate to the outside interest in the buyer and defer the gain on the interest we or our General Partner retain. The Operating Partnership recognizes any deferred gain when the property is sold to a third party. In transactions accounted by us as partial sales, we determine if the buyer of the majority equity interest in the venture was provided a preference as to cash flows in either an operating or a capital waterfall. If a cash flow preference has been provided, we recognize profit only to the extent that proceeds from the sale of the majority equity interest exceed costs related to the entire property.

Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

Comprehensive income/(loss), which is defined as the change in equity during each period from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources, including all changes in equity during a period except for those resulting from investments by or distributions to stockholders, is displayed in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss). For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Operating Partnership's other comprehensive income/(loss) consisted of the gain/(loss) (effective portion) on derivative instruments that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges and (gain)/loss reclassified from other comprehensive income/(loss) into earnings. The (gain)/loss reclassified from other comprehensive income/(loss) is included in Interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 8, Derivatives and Hedging Activity, for further discussion.

Income Taxes

The taxable income or loss of the Operating Partnership is reported on the tax returns of the partners. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements for federal or state income taxes on income that is passed through to the partners. However, any state or local revenue, excise or franchise taxes that result from the operating activities of the Operating Partnership are recorded at the entity level. The Operating Partnership's tax returns are subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities. Net income for financial reporting purposes differs from the net income for income tax reporting purposes primarily due to temporary differences, principally real estate depreciation and the tax deferral of certain

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

gains on property sales. The differences in depreciation result from differences in the book and tax basis of certain real estate assets and the differences in the methods of depreciation and lives of the real estate assets.

The Operating Partnership evaluates the accounting and disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Operating Partnership's tax returns to determine whether the tax positions are "more-likely-than-not" of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax positions not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year. Management of the Operating Partnership is required to analyze all open tax years, as defined by the statute of limitations, for all major jurisdictions, which include federal and certain states. The Operating Partnership has no examinations in progress and none are expected at this time.

Management of the Operating Partnership has reviewed all open tax years (2010 through 2013) of tax jurisdictions and concluded there is no tax liability resulting from unrecognized tax benefits relating to uncertain income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in future tax returns.

#### 3. REAL ESTATE OWNED

Real estate assets owned by the Operating Partnership consists of income producing operating properties, properties under development, land held for future development, and sold or held for disposition properties. At March 31, 2014, the Operating Partnership owned and consolidated 67 communities in nine states plus the District of Columbia totaling 20,482 apartment homes. The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for our real estate owned (at cost) as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31,	December 31,
	2014	2013
Land	\$996,448	\$1,004,447
Depreciable property — held and used:		
Buildings, improvements, and furniture, fixture and equipment	3,079,424	3,103,970
Under development:		
Land	9,447	9,447
Construction in progress	80,391	70,616
Real estate owned	4,165,710	4,188,480
Accumulated depreciation	(1,268,617	) (1,241,574 )
Real estate owned, net	\$2,897,093	\$2,946,906

The Operating Partnership did not have any acquisitions during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Predevelopment, development, and redevelopment projects and related costs are capitalized and reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Total real estate owned, net of accumulated depreciation. The Operating Partnership capitalizes costs directly related to the predevelopment, development, and redevelopment of a capital project, which include, but are not limited to, interest, real estate taxes, insurance, and allocated development and redevelopment overhead related to support costs for personnel working on the capital projects. We use our professional judgment in determining whether such costs meet the criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred. These costs are capitalized only during the period in which activities necessary to ready an asset for its intended use are in progress and such costs are incremental and identifiable to a specific activity to get the asset ready for its intended use. These costs, excluding the direct costs of development and redevelopment and capitalized interest, for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were \$755,000 and \$673,000, respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, total interest capitalized was \$1.0 million and \$1.3 million, respectively. As each home in a capital project is completed and becomes available for lease-up, the Company ceases capitalization on the related portion and depreciation commences over the estimated useful life.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Operating Partnership sold one operating property and an adjacent parcel of land in San Diego, CA for gross proceeds of \$48.7 million, resulting in net proceeds of \$47.9 million. The Operating

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

Partnership recognized a \$24.4 million gain, which is included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. There was no real estate sold during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

In October 2012, Hurricane Sandy hit the East Coast, affecting two of the Operating Partnership's operating communities located in New York City. The properties suffered some physical damage, and were closed to residents for a period following the hurricane. The Operating Partnership had insurance policies that provided coverage for property damage and business interruption, subject to applicable retentions.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Operating Partnership recorded \$2.0 million of insurance recovery related to the business interruption losses associated with Hurricane Sandy This recovery was included in Casualty-related (recoveries)/charges, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we recorded a \$500,000 casualty-related loss for one property damaged during an earthquake in California.

## 4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Effective January 1, 2014, UDR prospectively adopted ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity, for all communities not previously sold or classified as held for sale. The standard had a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. As a result of adopting the ASU, a \$23.3 million gain from disposition of real estate, excluding a \$1.1 million gain related to the sale of land, during the three months ended March 31, 2014 was included in Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned on the Consolidated Statements of Operations rather than in Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Prior to the prospective adoption of ASU 2014-08, FASB ASC Subtopic 205.20, required, among other things, that the primary assets and liabilities and the results of operations of UDR's real properties that have been sold or are held for disposition, be classified as discontinued operations and segregated in UDR's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Balance Sheets. Consequently, the primary assets and liabilities and the net operating results of those properties sold or classified as held for disposition prior to January 1, 2014 are accounted for as discontinued operations for all periods presented. This presentation does not have an impact on net income available to common stockholders, it only results in the reclassification of the operating results within the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the reclassification of the assets and liabilities within the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. In 2013, the Company sold two communities with 914 apartments in the Sacramento market. The operating results related to these communities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 are included in Income/(loss) from

related to these communities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 are included in Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following is a summary of income/(loss) from discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2014	2013		
Rental income	\$—	\$2,290		
Rental expenses	_	785		
Property management	_	63		
Real estate depreciation		537		

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations	<b>\$</b> —	\$905
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to UDR, Inc.	\$—	\$905
43		

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 5. DEBT

Our secured debt instruments generally feature either monthly interest and principal or monthly interest-only payments with balloon payments due at maturity. For purposes of classification in the following table, variable rate debt with a derivative financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge is deemed as fixed rate debt due to the Operating Partnership having effectively established the fixed interest rate for the underlying debt instrument. Secured debt consists of the following as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	Principal Outstanding		As of March	31,	2014			
	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	Weighted Average Interest Rate		Weighted Average Years to Maturity	Number of Communities Encumbered		
Fixed Rate Debt								
Mortgage notes payable	\$384,699	\$386,803	5.44	%	2.3	5		
Fannie Mae credit facilities	378,878	379,003	4.71	%	5.2	10		
Total fixed rate secured debt	763,577	765,806	5.08	%	3.8	15		
Variable Rate Debt								
Tax-exempt secured note payable	27,000	27,000	0.82	%	18.0	1		
Fannie Mae credit facilities	142,059	142,059	1.88	%	7.5	5		
Total variable rate secured debt	169,059	169,059	1.71	%	9.2	6		
Total Secured Debt	\$932,636	\$934,865	4.47	%	4.7	21		

As of March 31, 2014, the General Partner had secured credit facilities with Fannie Mae with an aggregate commitment of \$836.8 million with \$836.8 million outstanding. The Fannie Mae credit facilities are for an initial term of seven to 10 years and bear interest at floating and fixed rates. At March 31, 2014, \$625.4 million of the outstanding balance was fixed at a weighted average interest rate of 4.99% and the remaining balance of \$211.4 million on these facilities had a weighted average variable interest rate of 1.59%.

The following information relates to the credit facilities allocated to the Operating Partnership (dollars in thousands):

	March 31,	Decembe	131,
	2014	2013	
Borrowings outstanding	\$520,937	\$521,062	
Weighted average borrowings during the period ended	521,159	522,007	
Maximum daily borrowings during the period	521,389	523,187	
Weighted average interest rate during the period ended	4.1	% 4.2	%
Interest rate at the end of the period	4.1	% 4.1	%

The Operating Partnership may from time to time acquire properties subject to fixed rate debt instruments. In those situations, management will record the secured debt at its estimated fair value and amortize any difference between the fair value and par to interest expense over the life of the underlying debt instrument. The unamortized fair value adjustment of the fixed rate debt instruments on the Operating Partnership's properties was a net premium of \$9.0 million and \$10.0 million at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

#### Fixed Rate Debt

Mortgage notes payable. Fixed rate mortgage notes payable are generally due in monthly installments of principal and interest and mature at various dates from December 2015 through May 2019 and carry interest rates ranging from 3.43% to 5.94%.

Secured credit facilities. At March 31, 2014, the General Partner had borrowings against its fixed rate facilities of \$625.4 million, of which \$378.9 million was allocated to the Operating Partnership based on the ownership of the

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

debt. As of March 31, 2014, the fixed rate Fannie Mae credit facilities allocated to the Operating Partnership had a weighted average fixed interest rate of 4.71%.

## Variable Rate Debt

Tax-exempt secured note payable. The variable rate mortgage note payable that secures tax-exempt housing bond issues matures March 2032. Interest on this note is payable in monthly installments. The mortgage note payable has an interest rate of 0.82% as of March 31, 2014.

Secured credit facilities. At March 31, 2014, the General Partner had borrowings against its variable rate facilities of \$211.4 million of which \$142.1 million was allocated to the Operating Partnership based on the ownership of the assets securing the debt. As of March 31, 2014, the variable rate borrowings under the Fannie Mae credit facilities allocated to the Operating Partnership had a weighted average floating interest rate of 1.88%.

The aggregate maturities of the Operating Partnership's secured debt due during each of the next five calendar years subsequent to March 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

	Fixed		Variable		
Year	Mortgage	Credit	Tax Exempt	Credit	Total
1 Cai	Notes	Facilities	Notes Payable	Facilities	10tai
2014	\$5,441	\$258	\$	<b>\$</b> —	\$5,699
2015	191,893	366	_	_	192,259
2016	133,798	385	_	_	134,183
2017	1,442	15,640	_	6,566	23,648
2018	1,577	161,754	_	46,272	209,603
Thereafter	50,548	200,475	27,000	89,221	367,244
Total	\$384,699	\$378,878	\$27,000	\$142,059	\$932,636

#### Guarantor on Unsecured Debt

The Operating Partnership is a guarantor on the General Partner's unsecured revolving credit facility with an aggregate borrowing capacity of \$900 million, \$250 million of term notes due June 2018, \$100 million of term notes due June 2018, \$300 million of medium-term notes due June 2018, \$300 million of medium-term notes due October 2020, and \$400 million of medium-term notes due January 2022. As of March 31, 2014, the outstanding balance under the unsecured revolving credit facility was \$287.5 million. As of December 31, 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings under the unsecured revolving credit facility.

## 6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Payable/(Receivable) Due To/(From) the General Partner

The Operating Partnership participates in the General Partner's central cash management program, wherein all the Operating Partnership's cash receipts are remitted to the General Partner and all cash disbursements are funded by the General Partner. In addition, other miscellaneous costs such as administrative expenses are incurred by the General Partner on behalf of the Operating Partnership. As a result of these various transactions between the Operating Partnership and the General Partner, the Operating Partnership had net receivable balance of \$44.0 million and \$9.9 million at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, which is reflected as a reduction of capital, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### Allocation of General and Administrative Expenses

The General Partner provides various general and administrative and other overhead services for the Operating Partnership including legal assistance, acquisitions analysis, marketing and advertising, and allocates these expenses to the Operating Partnership first on the basis of direct usage when identifiable, with the remainder allocated based on its pro-rata portion of UDR's total apartment homes. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the general and administrative expenses allocated to the Operating Partnership by UDR were \$6.7 million and \$5.3 million, respectively, and are included in General and administrative on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In the opinion of management, this method of allocation reflects the level of services received by the Operating Partnership from the General Partner.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Operating Partnership incurred \$3.1 million and \$3.0 million, respectively, of related party management fees related to a management agreement entered into in 2011with wholly- owned subsidiaries of RE<sup>3</sup>. (See further discussion in paragraph below.) These related party management fees are initially recorded in General and administrative on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and a portion related to management fees charged by the Taxable REIT Subsidiary ("TRS") of the General Partner is reclassified to Property management on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. (See further discussion below.) Management Fee

In 2011, the Operating Partnership entered into a management agreement with wholly owned subsidiaries of RE<sup>3</sup>. Under the management agreement, the Operating Partnership is charged a management fee equal to 2.75% of gross rental revenues, which is classified in Property Management on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Notes Payable to General Partner

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Operating Partnership had \$88.7 million of unsecured notes payable to the General Partner at annual interest rates between 5.18% and 5.337%. Certain limited partners of the Operating Partnership have provided guarantees related to these notes payable. The guarantees were provided by the limited partners in conjunction with their contribution of properties to the Operating Partnership. The notes mature on August 31, 2021 and December 31, 2023 and interest payments are made monthly. The Operating Partnership recognized \$1.2 million and \$267,000 of interest expense on the notes payable during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

#### 7. FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level valuation hierarchy prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which are described below:

- Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.
- Level 2 Observable inputs other than prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated with observable market data.
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The estimated fair values of the Operating Partnership's financial instruments either recorded or disclosed on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Eair Value at March 31, 2014 Using

			Fair Value at March 31, 2014, Using Quoted		
	Total Carrying Amount in Statement of Financial Position on March 31, 2014	Fair Value Estimate at March 31, 2014	Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets or Liabilities (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Description: Derivatives- Interest rate contracts (a)	\$2,302	\$2,302	\$—	\$2,302	\$
Secured debt instruments- fixed rate: (b) Mortgage notes payable	384,699	401,086			401,086
Fannie Mae credit facilities	378,878	395,919			395,919
Secured debt instruments- variable rate:	,	,			•
(b)					
Tax-exempt secured notes payable	27,000	27,000			27,000
Fannie Mae credit facilities	142,059	142,059	_		142,059
Total liabilities	\$934,938	\$968,366	\$— F: X/1	\$2,302	\$966,064
	Total Carrying Amount in	F: W1	Quoted Prices in Active	Significant	1, 2013, Using
	Statement of Financial Position on December 31, 2013	Fair Value Estimate at December 31, 2013	Markets for Identical Assets or Liabilities (Level 1)	Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Description:					
Derivatives- Interest rate contracts (a)	\$2,731	\$2,731	<b>\$</b> —	\$2,731	\$—
Secured debt instruments- fixed rate: (b)	206.002	402.605			400 605
Mortgage notes payable	386,803	403,695			403,695
Fannie Mae credit facilities Secured debt instruments- variable rate:	379,003	394,239	_	_	394,239
(b)					
Tax-exempt secured notes payable	27,000	27,000			27,000
Fannie Mae credit facilities	142,059	142,059	_		142,059
Total liabilities	\$937,596	\$969,724	<b>\$</b> —	\$2,731	\$966,993
(a) See Note 8, Derivatives and Hedging (b) See Note 5, Debt.	Activity.				

## Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value

The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves. The fair values of interest rate options are determined using the market standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts that would occur if variable interest rates rise above the strike rate of the caps. The variable interest rates used in the calculation of projected receipts on the cap are based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

The General Partner, on behalf of the Operating Partnership, incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Operating Partnership has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

Although the General Partner, on behalf of the Operating Partnership, has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Operating Partnership has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives. As a result, the Operating Partnership has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. In conjunction with the FASB's fair value measurement guidance, the Operating Partnership made an accounting policy election to measure the credit risk of its derivative financial instruments that are subject to master netting agreements on a net basis by counterparty portfolio. Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

At March 31, 2014, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, prepaids, real estate taxes payable, accrued interest payable, security deposits and prepaid rent, distributions payable and accounts payable approximated their carrying values because of the short term nature of these instruments. The estimated fair values of other financial instruments were determined by the Operating Partnership using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop estimated fair values. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Operating Partnership would realize on the disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. Fair value of our debt instruments is estimated by discounting the remaining cash flows of the debt instrument at a discount rate equal to the replacement market credit spread plus the corresponding treasury yields. Factors considered in determining a replacement market credit spread include general market conditions, borrower specific credit spreads, time remaining to maturity, loan-to-value ratios and collateral quality (Level 3).

The Operating Partnership records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by the future operation and disposition of those assets are less than the net book value of those assets. Cash flow estimates are based upon historical results adjusted to reflect management's best estimate of future market and operating conditions and our estimated holding periods. The net book value of impaired assets is reduced to fair value. The General Partner's estimates of fair value represent management's estimates based upon Level 3 inputs such as industry trends and reference to market rates and transactions.

## 8. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITY

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Operating Partnership is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business operations and economic conditions. The General Partner principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business activities. The General Partner manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of its debt funding and through the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the General Partner enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. The General Partner's and the

Operating Partnership's derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the General Partner's known or expected cash payments principally related to the General Partner's borrowings.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The General Partner's objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the General Partner primarily uses interest rate swaps and caps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the General Partner making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. Interest rate caps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty if interest rates rise above the strike rate on the contract in exchange for an up front premium.

A portion of the General Partner's interest rate derivatives have been allocated to the Operating Partnership based on the General Partner's underlying debt instruments allocated to the Operating Partnership. (See Note 5, Debt.) The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Operating Partnership recorded no ineffectiveness and less than \$1,000 loss from ineffectiveness in earnings attributable to an index mismatch between the derivative and the hedged item, respectively.

Amounts reported in Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the General Partner's variable-rate debt that is allocated to the Operating Partnership. During the next twelve months through March 31, 2015, we estimate that an additional \$1.9 million will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense.

As of March 31, 2014, the Operating Partnership had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk (dollars in thousands):

Interest Rate Derivative	Number of	
interest Kate Derivative	Instruments	Notional
Interest rate swaps	2	\$96,974
Interest rate caps	6	\$255,561

Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage the Company's exposure to interest rate movements and other identified risks but do not meet the strict hedge accounting requirements of GAAP. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in earnings and resulted in losses of \$0 and \$2,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As of March 31, 2014, we had the following outstanding derivatives that were not designated as hedges in qualifying hedging relationships (dollars in thousands):

Draduct	Number of	Notional
Product	Instruments	Notional
Interest rate caps	1	\$83,289

Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet

The table below presents the fair value of the Operating Partnership's derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

	Asset Derivatives Fair Value at:			Liability Deri		
	Balance Sheet Location	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	Balance Sheet Location	Fair Value at: March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Derivatives						
designated as hedgin instruments:	g					
Interest rate products	Other assets	\$97	<b>\$</b> —	Other liabilities	\$2,302	\$2,731
Total		\$97	<b>\$</b> —		\$2,302	\$2,731
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:						
Interest rate products	Other assets	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	Other liabilities	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —
Total		<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —		<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —

Tabular Disclosure of the Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations The tables below present the effect of the derivative financial instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in OCI on Derivatives (Effective Portion)		Location of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI into Income (Effective Portion)		
Relationships	2014	2013	OCI into Income (Effective Portion)	2014	2013	
For the Three Months Ended March 31,						
Interest rate products	\$(51	) \$(54)	Interest expense	\$(623	) \$(869	)
Total	\$(51	) \$(54)	capende	\$(623	) \$(869	)

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments	Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in	Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on Derivatives		
	Income on Derivatives	2014	2013	
For the Three Months Ended March 31,				
Interest rate products	Other operating expenses	<b>\$</b> —	\$(2	)
Total	<b>r</b> 30	<b>\$</b> —	\$(2	)

Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

The General Partner has agreements with some of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where (1) if the General Partner defaults on any of its indebtedness, including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then the General Partner could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations; or (2) the General Partner could be declared in default on its derivative obligations if repayment of the underlying indebtedness is accelerated by the lender due to the General Partner's default on the indebtedness.

Certain of the General Partner's agreements with its derivative counterparties contain provisions where if there is a change in the General Partner's financial condition that materially changes the General Partner's creditworthiness in an adverse manner, the General Partner may be required to fully collateralize its obligations under the derivative instrument. At March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no cash collateral was posted or required to be posted by the General Partner or by a counterparty.

The General Partner also has an agreement with a derivative counterparty that incorporates the loan and financial covenant provisions of the General Partner's indebtedness with a lender affiliate of the derivative counterparty. Failure to comply with these covenant provisions would result in the General Partner being in default on any derivative instrument obligations covered by the agreement.

The General Partner has certain agreements with some of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where in the event of default by the General Partner or the counterparty, the right of setoff may be exercised. Any amount payable to one party by the other party may be reduced by its setoff against any amounts payable by the other party. Events that give rise to default by either party may include, but are not limited to, the failure to pay or deliver payment under the derivative contract, the failure to comply with or perform under the derivative agreement, bankruptcy, a merger without assumption of the derivative agreement, or in a merger, a surviving entity's creditworthiness is materially weaker than the original party to the derivative agreement.

As of March 31, 2014, the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position that were allocated to the Operating Partnership, which includes accrued interest but excludes any adjustment for nonperformance risk, related to these agreements was \$2.5 million. As of March 31, 2014, the General Partner has not posted any collateral related to these agreements. If the General Partner had breached any of these provisions at March 31, 2014, it would have been required to settle its obligations under the agreements at their termination value of \$2.5 million.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

The General Partner has elected not to offset derivative positions in the consolidated financial statements. The table below presents the effect on the Operating Partnership's financial position had the General Partner made the election to offset its derivative positions as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

Offsetting of Derivative Assets

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated Balance

Gross Amounts Not Offset in

		_		Sheets		
	Gross Amounts of Recognized Assets	Gross Amounts Offset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets	Net Amounts of Assets Presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (a)	Financial Instruments	Cash Collateral Received	Net Amount
March 31, 2014	\$97	<b>\$</b> —	\$97	\$—	<b>\$</b> —	\$97
December 31, 2013	<b>\$</b> —	\$—	<b>\$</b> —	\$—	<b>\$</b> —	\$—

(a) Amounts reconcile to the aggregate fair value of derivative assets in the "Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet" located in this footnote.

Offsetting of Derivative Liabilities

				the Consolida Sheets	ted Balance	
	Gross Amounts of Recognized Liabilities	Gross Amounts Offset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets	Net Amounts of Liabilities Presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (b)	Financial Instruments	Cash Collateral Posted	Net Amount
March 31, 2014	\$2,302	\$—	\$2,302	<b>\$</b> —	\$—	\$2,302
December 31, 2013	\$2,731	<b>\$</b> —	\$2,731	<b>\$</b> —	\$—	\$2,731

<sup>(</sup>b) Amounts reconcile to the aggregate fair value of derivative liabilities in the "Tabular Disclosure of Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Balance Sheet" located in this footnote.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 9. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

## General Partnership Units

The General Partner has complete discretion to manage and control the operations and business of the Operating Partnership, which includes but is not limited to the acquisition and disposition of real property, construction of buildings and making capital improvements, and the borrowing of funds from outside lenders or UDR and its subsidiaries to finance such activities. The General Partner can generally authorize, issue, sell, redeem or purchase any OP Unit or securities of the Operating Partnership without the approval of the limited partners. The General Partner can also approve, with regard to the issuances of OP Units, the class or one or more series of classes, with designations, preferences, participating, optional or other special rights, powers and duties including rights, powers and duties senior to limited partnership interests without approval of any limited partners except holders of Class A Partnership Units. There were 110,883 General Partnership units outstanding at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, all of which were held by UDR.

## Limited Partnership Units

At March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there were 183,167,815 limited partnership units outstanding, of which 1,873,332 were Class A Limited Partnership Units. UDR owned 173,848,891 or 94.9% at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, of which 121,661 were Class A Limited Partnership Units. The remaining 9,318,924 or 5.1% OP Units outstanding, were held by non-affiliated partners at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, of which 1,751,671 were Class A Limited Partnership Units.

Subject to the terms of the Operating Partnership Agreement, the limited partners have the right to require the Operating Partnership to redeem all or a portion of the OP Units held by the limited partner at a redemption price equal to and in the form of the Cash Amount (as defined in the Operating Partnership Agreement), provided that such OP Units have been outstanding for at least one year. UDR, as general partner of the Operating Partnership may, in its sole discretion, purchase the OP Units by paying to the limited partner either the Cash Amount or the REIT Share Amount (generally one share of common stock of UDR for each OP Unit), as defined in the Operating Partnership Agreement.

The non-affiliated limited partners' capital is adjusted to redemption value at the end of each reporting period with the corresponding offset against UDR's limited partner capital account based on the redemption rights noted above. The aggregate value upon redemption of the then-outstanding OP Units held by limited partners was \$240.7 million and \$217.6 million as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, based on the value of UDR's common stock at each period end. A limited partner has no right to receive any distributions from the Operating Partnership on or after the date of redemption of its OP Units.

## Class A Limited Partnership Units

Class A Partnership Units have a cumulative, annual, non-compounded preferred return, which is equal to 8% based on a value of \$16.61 per Class A Partnership Unit.

Holders of the Class A Partnership Units exclusively possess certain voting rights. The Operating Partnership may not do the following without approval of the holders of the Class A Partnership Units: (i) increase the authorized or issued amount of Class A Partnership Units, (ii) reclassify any other partnership interest into Class A Partnership Units, (iii) create, authorize or issue any obligations or security convertible into or the right to purchase any Class Partnership units, (iv) enter into a merger or acquisition, or (v) amend or modify the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership in a manner that adversely affects the relative rights, preferences or privileges of the Class A Partnership Units.

## Allocation of Profits and Losses

Profit of the Operating Partnership is allocated in the following order: (i) to the General Partner and the Limited Partners in proportion to and up to the amount of cash distributions made during the year, and (ii) to the General

Partner and Limited Partners in accordance with their percentage interests. Losses and depreciation and amortization expenses, non-recourse liabilities are allocated to the General Partner and Limited Partners in accordance with their percentage interests. Losses allocated to the Limited Partners are capped to the extent that such an allocation would not cause a deficit in the Limited Partners' capital account. Such losses are, therefore, allocated to the General Partner. If any Partner's capital balance were to fall into a deficit, any income and gains are allocated to each Partner sufficient to eliminate its negative capital balance.

## 10. INCOME/(LOSS) PER OPERATING PARTNERSHIP UNIT

Basic income/(loss) per OP Unit is computed by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to general and limited partner unitholders by the weighted average number of general and limited partner units (including redeemable OP Units) outstanding during the period. Diluted income/(loss) per OP Unit reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue OP Units were exercised or converted into OP Units or resulted in the issuance of OP Units and then shared in the income/(loss) of the Operating Partnership. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no dilutive instruments outstanding, and therefore, diluted income/(loss) per OP Unit and basic income/(loss) per OP Unit are the same. See note 9, Capital Structure, for further discussion on redemption rights of OP Units.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income/(loss) per OP Unit for the periods presented (dollars in thousands, except per OP Unit data):

	Three Months Er 2014	nded March 31, 2013	
Numerator for income/(loss) per OD Unit hasia and diluted:	2014	2013	
Numerator for income/(loss) per OP Unit — basic and diluted: Income/(loss) from continuing operations	\$6,411	\$6,869	
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned	24,402	\$0,009	
(Income)/loss from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests	(280)	<u> </u>	`
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to OP unitholders	\$30,533	\$6,824	,
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations	\$	\$905	
(Income)/loss from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests		_	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to OP unitholders	<b>\$</b> —	\$905	
Net income/(loss)	\$30,813	\$7,774	
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(280)	(45	)
Net income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$30,533	\$7,729	,
Denominator for income/(loss) per OP Unit — basic and diluted:			
Weighted average OP Units outstanding — basic and diluted	183,279	184,281	
Income/(loss) per weighted average OP Unit — basic and diluted:			
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to OP unitholders	\$0.17	\$0.04	
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to OP unitholders	\$—	\$0.00	
Net income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$0.17	\$0.04	
54			

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

#### 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Real Estate Under Development

The following summarizes the Operating Partnership's real estate commitments at March 31, 2014 (dollars in thousands):

	Number of Properties	Costs Incurred to Date (a)	Expected Costs to Complete (unaudited)
Real estate communities — under development	1	\$89,838	\$42,162
Real estate communities — redevelopment	1	76,083	3,900
_		\$165,921	\$46,062

(a) Includes \$9.0 million and \$1.0 million of accrued fixed assets for development and redevelopment, respectively. Contingencies

Litigation and Legal Matters

The Operating Partnership is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Operating Partnership cannot determine the ultimate liability with respect to such legal proceedings and claims at this time. The General Partner believes that such liability, to the extent not provided for through insurance or otherwise, will not have a material adverse effect on the Operating Partnership's financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

## 12. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

GAAP guidance requires that segment disclosures present the measure(s) used by the chief operating decision maker to decide how to allocate resources and for purposes of assessing such segments' performance. The Operating Partnership has the same chief operating decision maker as that of its parent, the General Partner. The chief operating decision maker consists of several members of UDR's executive management team who use several generally accepted industry financial measures to assess the performance of the business for our reportable operating segments. The Operating Partnership owns and operates multifamily apartment communities throughout the United States that generate rental and other property related income through the leasing of apartment homes to a diverse base of tenants. The primary financial measures of the Operating Partnership's apartment communities are rental income and net operating income ("NOI"), and are included in the chief operating decision maker's assessment of the Operating Partnership's performance on a consolidated basis. Rental income represents gross market rent less adjustments for concessions, vacancy loss and bad debt. NOI is defined as total revenues less direct property operating expenses. Rental expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, personnel, utilities, repairs and maintenance, administrative and marketing. Excluded from NOI is property management expense which is calculated as 2.75% of property revenue to cover the regional supervision and accounting costs related to consolidated property operations, and land rent. The chief operating decision maker of the General Partner utilizes NOI as the key measure of segment profit or loss. The Operating Partnership's two reportable segments are Same-Store Communities and Non-Mature Communities/Other:

• Same-Store Communities represent those communities acquired, developed, and stabilized prior to January 1, 2013 and held as of March 31, 2014. A comparison of operating results from the prior year is meaningful as these communities were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior period, there is no plan to conduct substantial redevelopment activities, and the community is not held for disposition within the current year. A community is considered to have stabilized occupancy once it

achieves 90% occupancy for at least three consecutive months.

Non-Mature Communities/Other represent those communities that do not meet the criteria to be included in 6ame-Store Communities, including, but not limited to, recently acquired, developed, redeveloped, and the non-apartment components of mixed use properties.

Management of the General Partner evaluates the performance of each of the Operating Partnership's apartment communities on a Same-Store Community and Non-Mature Community/Other basis, as well as individually and geographically. This is consistent with the aggregation criteria of Topic 280 as each of the apartment communities generally has similar economic characteristics, facilities, services, and tenants. Therefore, the Operating Partnership's reportable segments have been aggregated by geography in a manner identical to that which is provided to the chief operating decision maker.

All revenues are from external customers and no single tenant or related group of tenants contributed 10% or more of the Operating Partnership's total revenues during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.

The following table details rental income and NOI from continuing and discontinued operations for the Operating Partnership's reportable segments for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and reconciles NOI to Net Income/(Loss) Attributable to OP Unitholders in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (dollars in thousands):

	Three Month	s Ended March	31,
	2014	2013	
Reportable apartment home segment rental income			
Same-Store Communities			
West Region	\$46,856	\$43,822	
Mid-Atlantic Region	17,246	16,911	
Southeast Region	11,131	10,586	
Northeast Region	9,246	8,906	
Southwest Region	6,553	6,221	
Non-Mature Communities/Other	11,338	13,614	
Total consolidated rental income	\$102,370	\$100,060	
Reportable apartment home segment NOI			
Same-Store Communities			
West Region	\$34,238	\$31,433	
Mid-Atlantic Region	11,565	11,533	
Southeast Region	7,457	7,005	
Northeast Region	6,824	6,475	
Southwest Region	4,217	3,843	
Non-Mature Communities/Other	8,116	9,834	
Total consolidated NOI	72,417	70,123	
Reconciling items:			
Property management	(2,815	) (2,752	)
Other operating expenses	(1,436	) (1,386	)
Real estate depreciation and amortization	(44,271	) (45,393	)
General and administrative	(6,970	) (5,575	)
Casualty-related recoveries/(charges), net	(500	) 2,019	
Interest expense	(10,014	) (9,262	)
Gain/(loss) on sale of real estate owned	24,402	_	
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(280	) (45	)
Net income/(loss) attributable to OP unitholders	\$30,533	\$7,729	

<u>Table of Contents</u>
UNITED DOMINION REALTY, L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- (continued)
MARCH 31, 2014

The following table details the assets of the Operating Partnership's reportable segments as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Reportable apartment home segment assets		2010
Same-Store Communities		
West Region	\$1,734,393	\$1,733,144
Mid-Atlantic Region	707,198	706,447
Southeast Region	329,163	328,150
Northeast Region	444,242	443,483
Southwest Region	226,531	226,252
Non-Mature Communities/Other	724,183	751,004
Total assets	4,165,710	4,188,480
Accumulated depreciation	(1,268,617	) (1,241,574 )
Total assets - net book value	2,897,093	2,946,906
Reconciling items:		
Cash and cash equivalents	853	1,897
Restricted cash	13,155	13,526
Deferred financing costs, net	5,491	5,848
Other assets	23,446	25,064